PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:

	EB-2007-0606

EB-2007-0615

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:

	1
January 31, 2008
Gordon Kaiser
Paul Sommerville

Cynthia Chaplin


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair
Member

Member




EB-2007-0606
EB-2007-0615
IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Sched. B);
AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Union Gas Limited for an Order or Orders approving a multi-year incentive rate mechanism to determine rates for the regulated distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas, effective January 1, 2008;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an Application by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an Order or Orders approving or fixing rates for the distribution, transmission and storage of natural gas, effective January 1, 2008;

AND IN THE MATTER OF a combined proceeding Board pursuant to section 21(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,
25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, on Thursday,

January 31, 2007,
commencing at 9:40 a.m.
---------------------------------------
Volume 1
---------------------------------------



BEFORE:



GORDON KAISER

Presiding Member and Vice Chair



PAUL SOMMERVILLE
Member



CYNTHIA CHAPLIN
Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

VINCE COONEY
Board Staff
RUDRA MUKHERJI
LAURIE KLEIN
JERRY FARRELL
Enbridge Gas Distribution Ltd.

HELEN NEWLAND
MICHAEL PENNY
Union Gas Ltd.

VINCE DeROSE
Industrial Gas Users Association (IGUA)
RANDY AIKEN
Building and Owners and Managers Association of the Greater Toronto Area, London Property Management Association, and Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group

MICHAEL BUONAGURO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers


Coalition

JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union

DAVID MacINTOSH
Energy Probe Research Foundation
ROBERT WARREN
Consumers Council of Canada

MURRAY KLIPPENSTEIN
Pollution Probe
DAVID POCH
Green Energy Coalition
PETER SCULLY
City of Timmins

JASON STACEY
Intervenor; Sithe Global Power Goreway

RICHARD KING
Association of Power Producers of Ontario (APPrO)
VALERIE YOUNG
Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators
ROBERT FRANK
Coral Shell Energy


TransAlta Energy Cogeneration LP TransAlta Energy Corp.

1--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


1Appearances


3Procedural Matters


5PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL BY MR. FARRELL


7Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


47Submissions by Mr. Poch


55--- Recess at 11:11 a.m.


55--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.


67Submissions by Mr. DeRose


72Submissions by Mr. Warren


77Submissions by Mr. Penny


78Submissions by Mr. Millar


87Further Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein


90Further Submissions by Mr. Shepherd


97Submissions by Mr. Farrell


105--- Luncheon recess at 1:00 p.m.


105--- Upon resuming at 2:22 p.m.


105Procedural matters


106DECISION


115ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1


K. Culbert, R. Campbell, P. Hoey, A. Kacicnik; Sworn
115Examination by Mr. Farrell


126Cross-examination by Mr. Poch


130Cross-examination by Mr. Millar


131Procedural matters


137--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:20 p.m.




NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

22EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  EXCERPTS, 2006 GAS DSM GENERIC HEARING


79EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  EXTRACT FROM BOARD’S RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE RELATING TO SETTLEMENT PROPOSALS




NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

Error! No table of figures entries found.


Thursday, January 31, 2008

--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. on May 11th with respect to incentive rate mechanism for the purpose of setting distribution rates effective January 1st, 2008, and, in particular, with respect to a settlement agreement filed by the parties on January 29th in this matter.

Can we have the appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair, Michael Millar for Board Staff.  With me are Mr. Vince Cooney, Ms. Laurie Klein and behind me, Mr. Rudra Mukherji.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, Michael Penny for Union Gas Limited.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny.


MR. POCH:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  David Poch for Green Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.


MR. FARRELL:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Jerry Farrell and Helen Newland for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell.


MR. SCULLY:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Peter Scully for the City of Timmins.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Scully.


MR. STACEY:  Good morning.  My name is Jason Stacey.  I'm an intervenor and also representing Sithe Global Power Goreway.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe Research Foundation.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning.  Vince De Rose for Industrial Gas Users Association.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeRose.


MS. YOUNG:  Good morning.  Valerie Young for the Ontario Association of Physical Plant Administrators.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Young.


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken for the Building Owners and Managers Association of the Greater Toronto Area, the London Property Management Association, and the Wholesale Gas Service Purchasers Group.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. KING:  Richard King for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. King.


MR. FRANK:  Robert Frank for Coral Shell Energy and TransAlta.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Frank.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?

Procedural Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think the first order of business is probably going to be discussing the process that the Board establishes to deal with the partial settlement that has been filed.  However, I am not sure if there were any preliminary matters to that.  I hadn't heard any, but I thought before we got into that, I would see if anyone had anything to discuss.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell --


MR. POCH:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  Just to inform you, Mr. Chair, if we do get through the procedural matters, including presentation of the settlement, and there is time left in the day, I have spoken to counsel for the two companies and they're prepared -- I am able to proceed with my cross-examination on that.  I understand Mr. Klippenstein won't be able to before tomorrow, but I can proceed and the companies are willing to put their panels up on that issue for me to cross one after the other, and then do it again for Mr. Klippenstein in the morning.

That would be hopefully valuable to the Board's use of time, and certainly conveniences me and my car awaiting a snow storm in Kingston.  I don't know if we will get there.


MR. KAISER:  We'll try.  Mr. Farrell how do you want to proceed?


MR. FARRELL:  I would like to start with the settlement proposal.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any objection, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Chairman, I think that before you hear the settlement proposal, we should perhaps discuss the question of how it should be handled by the Board.  As Mr. Millar has suggested, I don't know --


MR. FARRELL:  Mr. Shepherd, can you speak a little louder?  I'm having difficulty hearing you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm coming off an illness.  I am trying my best.


MR. FARRELL:  Okay.  Can I come and stand by you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will try to lean forward.  It seems to me it is better if we figure out what the process should be before we launch into what could be a lengthy discussion of the partial settlement, if that is acceptable to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  That would probably make sense.  We have your letter, Mr. Farrell -- it's Ms. Newland's letter.  That's the letter of January 30th.  Do you want to take us through that and we will let Mr. Shepherd respond, or others?

PRESENTATION OF SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL BY MR. FARRELL:


MR. FARRELL:  All right.  I will just go right to page 2 of the letter, Mr. Chair.  The top of page 2 refers to the settlement conference guidelines and the Rules of Practice and Procedure.  So we believe that the presentation complies with both of those documents.

So we would start by presenting the settlement agreement to the Board.  We will have four members of the Enbridge team, Rick Campbell, Kevin Culbert, Patrick Hoey and Anton Kacicnik, who will be available to assist me in presenting the report and handling the technical or detailed questions, if there are any.


Then we come to -- point 2 is a cross-examination of those people, and if they do want to have a cross-examination, then we will swear them.  I will have a short examination-in-chief, and then parties can cross-examine.

The third point is there will be re-examination, if I so choose, and then we come to the fourth point, which is that we propose that any of the opposing parties - and the opposing parties, as defined, are School Energy Coalition, Pollution Probe and the Green Energy Coalition - and they will offer evidence, if they have any, on the settlement agreement.

We say, as you see in the last couple of lines of item number 4, that they have the burden of leading at the close of our case whether -- whatever evidence they feel is necessary to support their position.  If they elect not to offer any evidence, then we say it is fair that they describe to us the positions they intend to take in argument so we know the case we have to meet, rather than being ambushed.

Then we will present our argument in support of the settlement agreement.  That's point 6.  Opposing parties will present their argument, and then we will present our entire argument, and then the Board will deliberate and issue a decision.

Point 8 goes to the package issue.  If the Board decides to accept -- or, excuse me, not to accept one or more components of the package, which is the package of partially settled issues, then the people who support the partial settlement will advise everyone whether we can accept the Board's disallowance of one component or another.

If we can't reach an agreement to accept the Board's decision, then under the terms of the settlement agreement, there won't be one and the Board will proceed to hear all of the issues on the issues list.

If we get that far, where there is no settlement agreement, Enbridge is suggesting that there may be a better way than just going to all of the issues, considering the number of completely settled issues in the agreement, to see whether we might be able to convene an issues conference before the Board resumes the hearing, to see if we can narrow the areas of dispute so that we're not -- the Board doesn't have to hear absolutely everything.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Can we hear from any parties opposing this proposal?  Mr. Shepherd.

Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, some of us in this room will remember a TV show called I Love Lucy, in which one of the key characters, Desi Arnaz, had a line which some of us will remember, Lucy, you've got some explaining to do.

And I really understand that we have some explaining to do.  Why are we, the School Energy Coalition, taking this whole case to hearing by ourselves?  Why us, when everybody else agrees and we don't?

You can imagine that -- I am going to get to procedure in a second.  I think the Board is entitled to understand why we've got everybody here to argue about this.  You will be, I guess you will understand that I have had some lengthy discussions with my clients about this, and my clients in fact wanted me to pass on the message to you that they wanted to actually attend today so that they could sort of present to you that they have not taken this lightly.

Unfortunately, they were unable to deal with their schedules to come here.  Mr. Williams, the coordinator of the School Energy Coalition, is a province-wide labour negotiator and he is in the -- I think it is the support staff negotiation this morning.  So we probably would want him there rather than here.  Ms. Anderson, who is, who initiated the School Energy Coalition in the first place, is committed to multi-party policy debate this morning.


They apologize for not being here.  They wanted to be.  But they understand the importance of what we're doing here and being the sole outliers in a $5 billion case.  It is not nothing.  Of course I know it because how many people have said to me in the last week:  Do you have any idea of what kind of troublemaker you are being?  I know.  So the Board deserves to understand we're not taking this lightly.

I think you should be aware we have never been outliers before.  School Energy Coalition is one of the few parties that has never actually been a outlier in any proceeding on any major issue.  We have been close sometimes, including recently, but others have; CCC and VECC, for example, in 2004, GEC and Pollution Probe in a couple of cases, including the gas DSM case which was a major case, such a painful ADR, and at the end of it have to go through the process.  It was as difficult as this one.  We're strong believers in ADRs and we're always the ones asking for an ADR when there isn't one ordered.

So what I would like to do, in dealing with the procedure, if it is okay with the Board is I would like to briefly explain to the Board why we're opposing the settlement so that -- why we're here in the first place, because it is legitimate for you to ask why.  Then the bulk of my comments are on what we think are the Board's choices in the procedure to go ahead with it.  Although it is a procedural discussion, of course it has a significant substantive impact, which is why we want to spend a little bit of time and get it right.  It is worth $5 billion, it is worth getting right.  So if that is okay with the Board, I may be longer than you would have expected, but I am hoping that you will conclude at the end that it was worth the effort.


My preliminary comments, I hope you will understand, were in some ways an apology on behalf of myself and my clients for getting everybody here.


So why do we oppose this settlement?  I guess --

MR. FARRELL:  I have to interrupt my friend.  I think I am entitled to present the settlement proposal and Mr. Shepherd can then say why he is opposing it.

MR. KAISER:  I think you're right.

MR. FARRELL:  Not the other way around.


MR. KAISER:  I think Mr. Farrell is right. , Mr. Shepherd you are entitled to oppose any settlement agreement you want.  No apologies are necessary.  You're experienced counsel.  We assume you're acting in compliance with your client's instructions so let's just deal with the procedural issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, Mr. Chairman.  I guess my reason for doing so was more to provide context, but I am happy to go directly to procedure, if that is the Board's preference.


So let me just walk through the proposal of Enbridge.  I, of course, remind the Board that this was a little bit of an ambush.  We wanted to know what proposal they were making for procedure and it wasn't until late yesterday afternoon they told us.  Clearly, they knew earlier than that.  They didn't do a settlement without knowing how they planned to proceed with it, but they -- I'm not a litigator, as you know, and one of the litigators in my office said it is standard ambush tactics, just lawyers playing games.  The advice was given was mention it and they will leave it alone.  Get to the substance.


I am only dealing in my comments on the procedure with the contested package as a whole, and I think it is fair to say that the procedure for Green Energy Coalition and Pollution Probe may be different, even though the settlement agreement as currently worded proposes that it is conditional on the resolution of their issues as well.  Their issues take a very short period of time and have a very small impact on the settlement.  So it is conceptually different from what we're contesting, which is the guts of the settlement.  All of the major issues, the structure, the X factor, the Y-factor, the base year adjustments, normalized average or changes in average use are handled.  We are contesting those key elements, which is the guts of the deal.  So I am not sure you need to follow the same procedure for both, although you may choose to.


In paragraph 4 of Enbridge's proposal, they have said that they propose to limit our positions to those specific to our constituency.  I think everybody in this room will acknowledge that that is probably a misstatement.  All of us have an obligation here to participate in a public interest even if we have different perspectives, and we certainly don't intend to only deal with how this impacts on schools.  That would be wasting your time.


In both 4 and 5 in the submissions of Enbridge, they appear to be trying to shift the onus in this matter.  So they're talking about what case they have to meet.  They don't have a case to meet.  We have a case to meet.  They have a case to put.  And, you know, talking about the opposing parties' bearing a burden.  We don't have any burden.  They have the burden.  This is a pretty basic concept and I am not sure I even have to say much about it.  The onus is always on the applicant.  It never leaves the applicant in a proceeding like this.  So let's not start to screw around with that rule.


I guess I should say, as an aside, that having an onus or a burden is quite different from having an expectation and I am sure the Board has an expectation that during the course of this process, we will demonstrate to the Board that we weren't wasting everybody's time.  That's different from having the onus to put a case.  That onus remains on the applicant at all times.


And the last -- but the last and key part of the proposal to the Board from Enbridge is, they propose that the applicant be given the right to put forward two cases.  First, they put forward the partial settlement case, and then if you don't like that, they get another kick at the can and they get to put a new case forward, which could be their originally prefiled case or something different.  We don't know.  It is completely up to them because it is in their control.


So we looked at that and we said, well, what are the Board's options, in fact?  It is not like this is the first time it has been considered.  The options are really -- they can be set out in a grid.  You can either have a two-stage hearing or a one-stage hearing.  And within that you can either have the first stage as a hearing with evidence, or argument only.  In fact, all of these choices have been used in various situations in the past.


So let me deal first with the two-stage hearing.  In the two-stage hearing, what you do is you say:  The partial settlement is a threshold issue.  You have to decide that threshold issue before you can go to the main case.  And then, whether that starts with argument, the first phase of that is argument only or whether it is a hearing, depends on whether the opposing parties exercise their right to cross-examine.  The right to cross-examine is in the rules.  The settlement guidelines and the rules of practice in 32.06 give the opposing parties the right to cross-examine on the issues.  And that right to cross-examine is fairly straightforward.  Whatever issues are raised, we're entitled to cross-examine on their evidence.  So in fact -- and my friend has suggested they would have four internal witnesses.  In fact, we can say, look, Dr. Lowry provided important evidence which is important for the Board to hear; we're entitled to have him here so we can cross-examine him.  Similarly with the Brattle group, Drs. Bernstein and Carpenter.  And it is not really up to the utility to decide whether they want to lead those witnesses, because in fact they have led those witnesses.  They filed their reports.  So they can withdraw the reports, but if they don't want to withdraw the reports and if we want to cross-examine, they're required to bring them.

MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. KAISER:  Are you saying that the evidence and the witnesses in support of the settlement agreement, you get to determine who those witnesses are?  You can pick from anyone who has been proffered as a witness in this proceeding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not, actually.  What I'm saying is that we have an entitlement to -- I am going to come back to this, because we still have a choice of whether we exercise this entitlement.  We have an entitlement to cross-examine on the issues and what the courts have said regularly, as the Board is aware, I'm sure, is that that requires that we have a reasonable opportunity to deal with those issues.  So if there is expert evidence that is relevant to the issues, and X factor clearly is all about expert evidence, we have experts up the yin-yang in this case -- then we're entitled to have an expert come here so that we can cross-examine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Didn't you just tell us that it was the applicant's burden?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If the applicant chooses to call the witnesses it chooses to call in support of the settlement agreement, that that's their -- they're discharging their burden in that fashion?  You seem to be suggesting something very different than that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not.  What I'm saying is if they want to rely on the evidence of the Brattle Group in support of the X factor that they have presented, then we have to have a right to cross-examine the Brattle Group.

They can't say, Well, we're going to send somebody else who doesn't -- who is not actually an expert and let them answer the questions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Then I guess we get to decide whether they have discharged the burden or not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But you don't get to choose who the witnesses are, do you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So they are going to call their panel.  You are going to get to cross-examine their panel, and then we get to decide whether that -- as a result of that cross-examination and re-examination, as outlined in Ms. Newland's letter, whether that establishes, sufficient to the Board's satisfaction, that the settlement agreement is supported or not.  Isn't that the way it works?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  Although I guess there is one other criteria, and that is if there are witnesses that are not the applicant's witnesses that we want to call, we're entitled to call them.  So, for example, Dr. Lowry.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  This is after that happens; is that right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's after they have led their evidence; that's right.


MR. KAISER:  Well, you are entitled, under 32.04, to cross-examine on the issues at the hearing, and I have understood it that the issues in this hearing today are the aspects of the settlement agreement that you don't agree with.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  Is that right?  And so we have these witnesses, which the applicant is going to put up and they're going to address those issues, i.e., the settlement agreement, which might be different from some further or earlier evidence that they filed?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, exactly.  Actually, I am going to come to that.  But I guess the issues in dispute are, for example, the X factor.  Well, there's probably I would guess a thousand pages of evidence on the X factor before the Board right now.  And you are right that the applicant can say, We're not leading any of that stuff.  We're only leading some internal people who are going to say we like this X factor.

That's fine.  They're entitled to do that.  I would expect the Board would say, Well, that doesn't have a whole lot of weight, because where is your evidence backing it up?  There isn't any, in fact.

Now, alternatively, they could say, Well, we have to demonstrate that this X factor is reasonable, which means we have to bring the witnesses that show that this is the right range, and they have to be available for cross-examination.

The essence of our disagreement here is that we think that the evidence filed -- this is why I wanted to actually go into the substance first.  We think that the evidence filed is crystal clear.  We have two clear pieces of evidence.  The only independent witness, the only independent expert, Dr. Lowry -- everybody else has a point of view.

Dr. Lowry, the foremost authority on this in the world, is the only independent one.  His evidence is inconsistent with the settlement, and we have the market having spoken, because the market, in a negotiated transaction between parties on identical issues, essentially identical issues, the Union settlement has decided this is wrong and, in fact, something very similar to Lowry is correct.

So what I am saying is we're entitled to -- if we go the evidentiary route, we're entitled to put that evidence forward, the evidence that shows why this is not correct.


MR. KAISER:  What you are entitled to do is to cross-examine on their evidence today on those issues, which will be the issues in the settlement agreement and, particularly in your case, those issues which you oppose.  This is all about opposing party.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You're an opposing party on six or ten or 12 issues.  We're going to hear evidence on those issues and that evidence, I presume, is going to be in support of the settlement agreement on those issues.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's the issue, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Why wouldn't it be?  Isn't that why we're here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe I could come back to that.


MR. KAISER:  We're not here to rehear this whole case to turn this into a case that began as if there had been no settlement agreement.  We're here to see if we can accept this settlement agreement.

Now, you can cross-examine and you can call whoever you want in reply evidence as to why the settlement agreement, on those issues -- which you are the opposing party, but that doesn't mean we have to hear evidence from every witness whose evidence has been filed in this proceeding.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't it the essence of a settlement arrangement or agreement that there is a compromise in positions?  I mean, that is just lingua franca of much of what happens here is that there is a compromise, and I think that is clearly understood by everyone.

If the idea is that every settlement agreement becomes subject to a review on the basis that if it doesn't jive precisely with the evidence underlying -- which is delineated in the settlement agreement that has been filed or about to be filed -- that somehow that there is an opportunity to explore everything in the context of considering the settlement agreement.

The settlement agreement is, by its nature, a compromise.  It is never going to reflect, with precision, that evidence; isn't that right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, Mr. Sommerville.  But I guess the way I would look at it is that we're not a party to the agreement on the X factor, for example, and we're entitled to have the case on the X factor decided by the Board.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I think we understand your position.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So can I deal with the procedural issues?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So as I was saying, if you have a two-stage hearing in which you treat the partial settlement as a threshold issue, then you can either have argument, then hearing - that is, argument on the partial settlement, and then, if you don't accept it, a hearing on the main case - or you can have a hearing on the partial settlement, and then if you don't accept it, a hearing on the main case.

So let me deal with the first of those, argument then hearing.  Part of the problem with that is it effectively shifts the onus to the opposing party to displace the settlement.

I want to make clear, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, there is no law anywhere that I have been able to find - and I invite my colleague, my friend Mr. Farrell, to take you to some law - that says that a partial settlement shifts the onus.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think he's saying that.  Are you saying that, Mr. Farrell?


MR. FARRELL:  No, I'm not.


MR. KAISER:  I didn't think so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then let's go to argument first, and then argument on the settlement agreement, and then, if we're able to displace it, then only then do we have a hearing.  That doesn't make sense.

Furthermore, if we did that, then we still have to argue the key evidence.  We still have to argue whether Dr. Lowry is right or the Brattle Group or Dr. Loube.  And the Board has to reach a conclusion on those issues, because, otherwise, unless you reach a conclusion on those issues, you can't decide whether the settlement is reasonable.

Then the problem is, if the conclusion you reach isn't 100 percent consistent with the settlement agreement - that is, that you say, Well, we don't exactly agree on this point, but we think that because of what we decided on X factor and because of what we decided on this, we think the settlement agreement is reasonable - if you don't get there, then we have to go back and start again, in this scenario, with a hearing on the evidence in which you then are presented with the same issues, again, which you have already had to decide.  You have to decide them again.

So that is the first possibility of a two-stage hearing.  The second possibility is the one that I think Board Panel members are assuming would be the case, and that is hearing followed by a hearing.  So we have a hearing on the partial settlement.

In that case, by the way, the onus is not as obviously shifted to the opposing parties.  It is to a certain extent, but it is not as obvious, but we still have the problem that the Board has to decide those issues that are in dispute in order to approve the settlement.

Once you have decided them, if you don't approve the settlement, you then have to hear the evidence again and decide them again.  How could you be in that situation?

There are also two other problems.  The first is there could be significant delay, particularly if, in order to understand some of the issues and what the problems with the issues are, you have to go deeply into the evidence.  So, for example, on the X factor, if you have to hear all of the experts in order to figure out whether the X factor is right or wrong, then there could be a considerable delay.


And perhaps just as bad, you are faced with the situation where you call witnesses first to present one case and then to present another case, which could be inconsistent.  So the second possibility -- the first possibility is a two-stage hearing, either argument then hearing or hearing then hearing.


The second possibility is a single hearing.  In a single hearing, the parties to the partial settlement have to decide what case they're putting to the Board.  Are they putting the partial settlement case to the Board or are they putting their original case to the Board?  Or cases, perhaps.  Once they have decided that, you then have one case to decide, either you have to decide whether the partial settlement has to be approved, or you have to decide -- and I am going to come to the problems with that in a second, Mr. Sommerville, because I understand this is not simple.  This is complicated.


And of course then how you proceed still depends on whether opposing counsel wants to cross-examine.  So in one case the parties to the partial settlement could say, we accept that, we're going to elect a partial settlement.  We could say, We'll accept the record as it is.  We will move directly to argument.  There is a lot less delay in that.  It is simpler, more straightforward, but it has the disadvantage that we lose the opportunity to test some of the evidence that is before the Board.


Of course the last possibility -- and this is by the way the one that has been used and the only similar case to this before this Board -- is that there simply be a full hearing on whatever the parties -- whatever case the parties elect to present.  If they elect to present the partial settlement, there is a full hearing on that.  The Board then decides whether they want to accept the partial settlement or whether they want to accept something different, some modification or however it wants to do it.  The danger with that is that the settlement will fall apart, because of the litigation risk on the part of the agreeing parties in having to choose the partial settlement as their new case.


So let me take you to the main precedent in this area, which I was involved with on the other side.  And the case -- and I have provided you with excerpts from it, I haven't provided you with the whole thing because it was actually decided in a transcript and it is quite lengthy.  It went over two days as people asked for clarifications and there were submissions back and forth, et cetera.  For my friends, there are copies piled over there, if anybody wants them.  But I am sure most of the people in this room are very familiar with this case anyway.  This is the 2006 gas DSM generic hearing.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, unless there are any objections we will give that an exhibit number.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  EXCERPTS, 2006 GAS DSM GENERIC HEARING

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to take you through some of the salient points of this but let me just describe briefly what happened there.  I am sure probably the Board Members are pretty well aware of it.  It was very difficult ADR. There were two utilities, lots of parties, and very complex issues, both money issues and policy issues.  It was a multi-year complex deal and there was a package deal which was opposed by two parties.  It was, as I said earlier, it was a very tough ADR.  I mean, anybody in this room who was in that ADR will tell you, it was not fun.


Now, it wasn't $5 billion of revenue requirement, but it was billions of dollars of TRC, so it mattered.  Agreeing parties presented to the Board - and the agreeing parties were led by Union and Schools - presented a procedural proposal that was virtually identical to what Enbridge has proposed in this case because, indeed, the situation was on all fours with this.  That is, a two-stage hearing in which there was first a hearing on the partial settlement and then if the Board rejected it, then there would be a full hearing on the whole case.  And the Board after some consideration rejected that proposal.  There was lots -- you will see, I will take you to some of the stuff, there was lots of back and forth and said to the parties:  Look, you, the parties that are parties to the partial settlement, you elect what case you want to bring forward.  It is not up to us to decide what case you want to put to us.  You don't have a full deal in which you can say we all agree on this and nobody is opposing.  You have a dispute.  So the people who are putting forward a point of view, a -- something for the Board to approve, have to decide, what do you want the Board to approve and put that case forward.  Put whatever evidence in you want; it is your case.  You put whatever evidence in you want to put in, and then the opponents will oppose it, cross-examine, whatever, and then we will decide the whole case.  We're not going to come back and do it again.


The Board did that, recognizing that there was a significant risk, in fact at the time they made the decision, they thought it was almost a certainty the deal would fall apart.  In fact, I want on the record as saying I don't know whether in this circumstance I can remain a party to this settlement.  But the Board insisted, and in the end the deal did hold.  The hearing went forward, as expected, in which all of the agreeing parties proposed the partial settlement.  There was evidence.  The decision was made.  Done.


I just want to -- let me take you to a couple of things here.  You will see -- in your package that I have given you, this is a series of excerpts of the proceeding.  At page 7, lines 26 and 27, you will see that this was a situation where certain issues were negotiated as a package, exactly the same as here.  You will see at the top of page 8, this is also a quote from the settlement agreement, the partial settlement, it says:
"If the Board does not by the end of the hearing of the evidence in EB-2006-0021 accept all of the partially settled provisions of this settlement proposal, included in the package in their entirety there is no settlement on any issues included in the package unless the parties to the partially settled issues in the package agree..."

You have seen that wording before, because it is in the settlement agreement before you, I think word-for-word.  The rationale for that is set out at the top of page 9, where -- this is Mr. Smith's submissions, Crawford Smith's submissions, where he says:  We had to make trade-offs.  People make concessions on one thing in order to get agreement on other things.  And so it has to hang together as a package.  That's the rationale for making it a package.


They go on to say -- maybe the easiest way to -- what they propose is there will be a hearing, right.  Then if you look at the bottom of page 12, you will see what is proposed -- I say "they" but it was actually "we" -- we propose to the Board, I am quoting at the bottom of the page, page 27:

"...if the Board decides that the partially settled package is not in the public interest, the Board can then direct a hearing on all of the issues, and it may be necessary at that point for parties to consider whether or not they want to call back witnesses to have evidence heard on issues that the Board has not agreed to.  So people would, in effect, retreat to their prefiled evidence."

Now, at the bottom of page 14 and the top of page 15, the Board asks, Well, have you thought about -- this is the chair, Ms. Nowina:  "Have you thought about the timelines that it might take the Board to make a decision on those issues?"  And Mr. Smith goes through, yes, I understand, it could take a lot of time to do this if you don't accept the settlement.  And he says at line 15:  "It does impose on Members of the Panel to an extent", but he says the reason why that is okay is because the alternatives are more undesirable.  And Mr. Vlahos asked some questions and Mr. Smith clarifies at line 27 at the bottom of that page 15:
"Unless the parties were to otherwise agree, then there would be no settlement on the package."


Mr. Vlahos says on page 10 -- on page 16, line 10:
"Which means we have to go back and all of those issues in the package would be subject to proper review and cross-examination, et cetera, et cetera.  So we're talking about weeks down the road, then?"


Mr. Smith answers yes, "that may be the case."

If you want to turn to page 27, these are the submissions of Mr. Poch, who was -- Mr. Poch and Mr. Klippenstein were the outliers in that case.  Mr. Poch talks about the reasons why this is not a sensible approach, the approach that we were proposing was not a sensible approach, and notes, and I think this is important to see, at line 19 of page 27:
"Those parties make the deal, and they hope that the fact that it is known to the Board that a number of parties coalesced on a position and obviously reached a compromise to achieve that, makes the Board feel that it is likely to be more workable or satisfied more diverse interests."

That's actually the essence of a partial settlement is it is persuasive.  Mr. Poch goes on at page 28 on line 22 to say:
"The Board is being told, Change the process.  Reach a decision on the package and understand that if you reject that, you are going to be greatly inconvenienced.  There is going to be a great delay.  We're all going to have to come back here again.  You are going to have to hear from Mr. Poch cross-examining on the same issues again."

I don't know.  It might even be worse if you had to hear from Mr. Shepherd cross-examining on the same issues again.

And he goes on to talk about the fact that there is an appearance of fairness of unfairness.  Then on page 31, he cuts to the chase, and I think this is important to bring to the Board's attention.  Line 4, he says:

"It is not a great inconvenience for those parties to put in their case in its totality.  They can make the advocacy decision whether they want to stick to their deal and take it -- you know, put all of their chips on a square, or they can agree amongst themselves that they're free to hedge their bet and make their case for that..."

That is, go back to their original positions.  But it is their call.  It is their case.


Now, turn to page 43, and Mr. Vlahos asks the obvious question, Well, this isn't the first time we have seen a partial settlement.  Why are we having this whole big laroosh.  He doesn't say it quite that way.  I am paraphrasing.  And Mr. Smith answers:
"This is a different type of partial settlement."

He says -- he talks about partial settlements where there is a small issue that doesn't have a big impact on the main case, on the main guts of the settlement, and can be dealt with discretely.  The issues that Mr. Poch and Mr. Klippenstein are raising here are like that.

But then he goes on to say at the top of page 44, and this is Mr. Smith now talking:
"What we have here, however, is, in effect, the crux of the case from a financial perspective has been compromised."

He goes on at line 20 to say:
"It is simply too much to expect parties to abandon their prefiled position and abandon the right to advance what they think is potentially a better or correct solution in favour of the either/or alternative the Board accepts the package or rejects the package, in my submission."

He actually says I'm right on that.  Of course I was wrong, but that is neither here nor there.

And at the top of the next page, I am on the record as saying that if we are put to our election, it is not clear that we're going to stick by the partial settlement.  In fact, later in these quotes you will see that, after a break and some discussion, I actually had instructions to withdraw from the partial settlement if we were forced to elect.  We didn't in the end, but...


And Mr. Smith says on that same page at line 17 and 18 that, in fact, the utilities might have to withdraw from the partial settlement, as well, if they were forced to elect to stand behind it, or not.

Now, here is the decision, bottom of page 51, line 26.  Ms. Nowina says:
"We do not accept Mr. Smith's proposal.  The partially agreed to issues will be fully heard before the Panel renders any decision."

That is, the Board decided we're going to have a one-stage hearing.  You put your case.  We will decide the case.  There is a whole back and forth, and it goes on for a number of pages, but if you see on page 52, for example, Mr. Smith says:
"Do we have to lead our entire case?"


And Ms. Nowina says:
"I will leave that to not only the utilities, but also the intervenors, to determine how they want to present their case."


Later on, there is a discussion about whether the parties feel comfortable electing, and you will see on page 56, on lines 23 and 24, Mr. Smith says -- he's talking about whether we could have a really have a two-stage hearing, "please, please".  We were still trying to get a two-stage hearing at that point.  And he says:

"Do parties hedge their bets by calling all of the evidence?"


And there is a discussion about that, and they talk about litigation risk, and then Mr. Vlahos says at page 59:

"Are we rearguing the first issue now?"


Of course, parenthetically, I can tell you, yes, we were.  Of course we were.  We didn't like the decision, so we were trying to reargue it.  The Chair's ruling was quite clear and she did indicate that the matters will come for a hearing.
"Any partially settled issue is an issue for the hearing.  So it is your test; it is your case to meet.  So as to how you are going to do it, how the other parties are going to meet that test, that is up to the parties, you and the other parties collectively to decide."


In other words, he's saying, Look, you want to put a case to us, put a case to us.  You decide what case you want to put to us.  Don't ask us to decide what case you should be putting.

So the end result - and I am going to take you to page 66 - Mr. Smith says, on line 7:
"The parties to the partial settlement will have to have a discussion following today's hearing and determine the way in which they are prepared to proceed going forward, and seek appropriate instructions."


In other words, do we still have a partial settlement or not if we're forced to go ahead with a single hearing, elect to support our settlement or not.

Ms. Nowina says, Okay, go ahead.  Talk about it.


Then she goes on to say at line 15, and I think that applies here, too, and that is why I am quoting it:
"I would like to express some consternation that the settlement proposal as worded was not dependent on the process that the Board used to hear the case."


As is the case here.  Parties didn't say to you, Well, this is only a settlement if you let us do it in two stages.

Now, finally, if you turn to -- this is the next morning.  As I said, this turned into a laroosh.  Next morning, you will see what the decision was of the parties.  On page 3, you will see that Mr. Smith says:
"All parties to the partial settlement remain committed to the settlement proposal and to the agreement which was filed with the Board yesterday in its entirety."

And below at line 17, he says:

"No party is withdrawing from that agreement and we intend to support it in the hearing, both in argument and in evidence."

And later he says, on page 8 -- he talks about how it will proceed, and he says at line 21 to 23:
"The parties will present evidence to support the partial settlement."

We're not going to present evidence supporting our prefiled positions.  We have made the election.  We have elected to support the settlement that we told you is the right answer.

It's our submission that this case is on all fours with the current case.  It is essentially identical in terms of -- in every material respect.

So that leads, finally - sorry I took so long -  to what we propose.


We propose the following.  We're willing to waive our right to cross-examine the witnesses and accept the record as is.  We think that that promotes the efficiency of the process and, frankly, although we're probably giving something up by not having Dr. Lowry here - he is a very good witness - to explain his positions, but we've had reports - I spent the weekend with these reports.  That was a joy - We have had numerous interrogatory responses.  We have had technical conferences, more than one, and many, many undertakings.  So we believe that while there is probably some more we could get out of this if we really want to beat it some more, we can probably dispense with the additional evidence and go directly to argument.


So our view is that the parties to the partial settlement should be told to decide what case they want to put to this Board.  If the case they want to put to this Board is the partial settlement, that's good.  If the case is some different case or some modified settlement or some -- or their original positions, their call to decide what decision they're asking this Board to make.


If they decide to present the partial settlement then we believe that no further evidence is necessary and we're prepared to go directly to argument.  What we propose is that the agreeing parties advise you how long it would take for them to do argument.


I think this needs written argument, it is quite complicated.  I did an outline of what the argument might look like.  The outline is eight pages, single-spaced pages.  It is very complicated stuff.  So the agreeing parties may need a couple of weeks to make a written argument, that is fine.  We think that we need about three weeks to make a written argument.  Our estimate is it is between 25,000 and 50,000 words and you can't really write that in less than about 10 or 12 business days.  That is your best case.  I mean I was a professional writer at one time, and the best I could ever do was 5,000 words a day.  That would be -- that's typically half your time is writing and half your time is prep.  Then it would be a reply a week or ten days later, however long the agreeing parties need to reply and the case would be done.  No further evidence is required.  My --

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you something?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sure.

MR. KAISER:  Do I take it from that that you don't think you need to hear from Mr. Farrell's panel --

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I don't.

MR. KAISER:  -- that he brought today?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I mean the evidence that is most salient is actually the evidence of the experts.

MR. KAISER:  So the argument, written, as you propose it, will be based on evidence that is fully untested?  Is that right?  Is that the substance of your proposal?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Although a couple of comments on that.  First of all, there is untested evidence and there is untested evidence.

MR. KAISER:  Well, we have never seen these witnesses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have not, that's right.

MR. KAISER:  Certainly untested from our point of view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess in part that is true, but these are not witnesses in which the issue is one of credibility.  These are expert witnesses -- primarily, these are expert witnesses who have filed reports, who have had detailed and very probing interrogatory questions on them, and have had technical conference in which we weren't supposed to cross-examine but you read the transcripts, maybe some people slipped a little bit into cross-examination in the technical conferences.  So lots has gone back and forth.  Would it be better if we actually brought everybody here and have you see them?  Probably.  But it's a question of marginal utility.  How much more value would that give you?  And we're suggesting it is not enough to spend what could be three or four weeks in the hearing.  It is not necessary.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is there any conclusion we should draw from the fact that -- I don't believe your client filed any evidence in this case to date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Should we draw any conclusion from that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  We didn't need to.  We would have been wasting the Board's time to add more fuel to the fire.  There were five experts already.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We try to file evidence only when we can add some value.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  You indicated that if the parties agreed to support the agreement as their starting point - finishing point, really - does that hold -- does that mean that all of the agreeing parties have to agree in precisely the same way?  So if one of them said, The rest of you guys can do whatever you want.  You can support the agreement if you like.  But we choose not to.  We choose to retreat to our original position in this case or to whatever position.  Does your proposal hold under those circumstances?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It does.  Because we think there is actually two steps to that.  Step one is do you decide to the case you're presenting the partial settlement or something else?  And each of the agreeing parties has to decide that of course.  You are absolutely right.  But then the second decision each of those parties has to make is, do we want to lead evidence on this?  Or are we willing to agree to accept the record as it is as well?  They can each decide that.

MR. KAISER:  Aren't we past that point?  You had an opportunity to file evidence.  There is no evidence filed.  Aren't we stuck with the record we have?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  I'm not talking about filing additional evidence.  I am talking about presenting witnesses, or cross-examining witnesses.  So for example let's say Mr. DeRose decides that, faced with having to support the partial settlement, doesn't want to take the risk.  So withdraws from it.  Which he can do.  The Board has to consent, but I think in the practical reality, of course you would do that.  He, then -- he becomes an opposing party and he has the right to cross-examine witnesses; he can require, same as we can, he can either accept the record as it is or he can ask Enbridge to put your witnesses forward.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Shepherd, is there any concern about prejudice to the other parties in this case who have identified an agreement that they have arrived at in the normal course of our ADR process, they have identified positions that they have expressed in that agreement, and whether they accept that as their starting point or ending point -- however you want to describe it -- or not, certainly there is an inherent compromise in their position, that is represented by that agreement.  How do they -- what ground do they find themselves on?  Are they not prejudiced simply by the publication of this settlement agreement, and now anyone who wants to attack that agreement, they are really compromised, are they not?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess so.  But this is, you know, volenti non fit injuria, they knew that was the case when they filed the agreement:  That unless it went forward --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not quite.  I mean they filed agreement as a non-severable package.  That is how they filed it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, but they filed the agreement knowing the only similar case this Board has decided had a particular procedure, after considerable debate.  They must have expected that that is what the Board would follow.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that is an ambitious statement.  But thank you for your...

MR. SHEPHERD:  They certainly knew that was a risk, that the Board would reach the same decision as a previous panel had in a similar situation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just wonder how our processes are served by that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, Mr. Chairman -- sorry, Mr. Sommerville.  If you take a look at the last two pages of K1.1, I didn't quote this to you, but I will now, because I think you have raised the point.  I said at the bottom of page 9, line 28, I said:   Yesterday's proceeding exposed what many experienced counsel around the table probably should have spotted earlier in the ADR and that is an anomaly in the Board's settlement guidelines that may make it more difficult for parties to enter into partial settlements on major issues.  And I talk about how surprised we were that the Board said, hey, we want one case.  And I said we're concerned that this may make it more difficult to reach settlements in the future.


I said the Board should think about this and decide - this is two years ago - decide whether it should be changing its settlement guidelines to deal with this problem.  And remember, I was on the other side of it now.  The Board has not made any change to the settlement guidelines.


We, in fact, decided not to participate in this settlement, in part, influenced by the fact that we thought we knew what the process was because we have seen it.  We lost on it.  So, yes, you are right, that the other parties have a risk.  They filed a position they think this is acceptable.  We will also have a risk when we decided not to.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Am I to understand that if we take your position to its logical conclusion, in any of these ADRs, if one party opposes, it in effect forces the case - let's say they opposed on all issues - it forces the Board to hear that entire case in its entirety.  We don't have the option of looking at the settlement agreement and hearing evidence on the settlement agreement and submissions from all of the parties that agreed and conclude, No, that one guy is wrong.  We're not going to send this whole thing back for a hearing.

We don't have that option.  That's the result of your submission?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I don't think that is correct.  I think you do have that option, but you must give the opposing parties, whoever they are, the full right to be heard.  That's just a normal audi alteram partem; right?  They have that right.

And the full right to be heard includes hearing whatever evidence is relevant to the issues that they're disputing.  You have to give them that opportunity.  And, yes, you are right --

MR. KAISER:  Who gets to determine what the evidence is?  You say that Mr. Farrell has the onus, and he agrees and he says,  Here is my case.  Now, you can call evidence and that is what the rules suggest.

So let's say he says, Here is the evidence I'm going to call.  It is these four guys, end of story.  That's my case.  I accept it is my onus.  I am here to support this settlement agreement.  Then you, Schools, you can call whatever evidence you want.

You accept that would be the process?  That would be protection of your rights?

MR. SHEPHERD:  With one variation.  I think we often forget this; "we", lawyers, often forget this, even though I am sure the Board remembers it all the time.  That is it is actually not up to us what evidence you see.  It is up to you what evidence you want to see in order to make a decision.

MR. KAISER:  We generally rely upon the parties in the first instance to produce their case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You do, indeed, and if Mr. Farrell presents you a case that doesn't give you enough evidence to make a good decision, I would assume that you will say, No, we haven't seen enough.  We want more.

In fact, the Board does that from time to time.  I would expect that would be the case.

MR. KAISER:  And the difference in this case is you're saying, We don't need to hear any evidence today.  We don't need to hear from Mr. Farrell's four people and we don't need to hear from all of those people in the back room who have participated in the conferences, the technical conferences, and filed evidence.  We will just proceed to argument on the full record, on the whole case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In much the same way the Board would in a complete settlement.  In a complete settlement, the Board is still making the decision.  We're not making the decision; you are.  What you do is you don't ask all of the witnesses to come and present the whole case.  You instead say, Okay, we're going to look at the evidence that we have so far, because that evidence, just because it isn't under oath and isn't cross-examined, it is still evidence under the Board's Rules.  We're going to look at that evidence to see if it is enough, and, if it is, we will make the decision.  If it's not, we will call somebody.

And the Board has done that on occasion.  We want to see so and so because we're not sure about this.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd, from the reading of the rules associated with settlement proposals, one of the distinctions I see between your two alternatives, the one-phase and two-phase, it seems to me that in the two-phase, what it provides the parties who have agreed is the right to have the Board decide on whether or not that settlement is acceptable, and, bearing in mind all of the comments you have made, that they will decide what case to put forward.

If the Board were to either reject the settlement or to say that there was insufficient evidence, then those parties then have the right to decide whether or not they will stick with the settlement and take the full settlement to hearing, or whether or not the settlement falls apart.  And they go to whatever position they go to and it goes to a full hearing.


It seems to me that those may be important options for those parties and it seems in the one-hearing approach, that that sort of set of options is taken away from those parties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely it is, and that's true in every case before this Board.  When an applicant comes before the Board, they tell you what they want you to decide.  They don't tell you, Well, you know, here are some choices.  Decide on this, and then, you know, if we don't like your decision on that, then we will come back and we will ask for something else.  They tell you what their case is.

So, here, what's being proposed is that they will have two different cases.  They will have a case first with evidence supporting that case, and then they will have another case later.  If you don't like that one, they will come back, have another kick at the can in which they will present probably the same witnesses saying something different.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Isn't that the case if from is a complete settlement and the Board does not accept it?  That is what happens; right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If there is a complete settlement and the Board doesn't accept it, then the Board is saying, the evidence -- we have not seen sufficient evidence to convince us that this is okay.  The Board doesn't, on a complete settlement, decide this is wrong, at least not that I have ever seen.

What it decides is, You haven't supported this sufficiently yet, so bring us evidence to support it, or not, but we can't decide until we have more.

MR. KAISER:  I don't think that is the case.  I think there is a case involving Mr. Farrell and Ottawa Hydro where the Board did just that, refused certain aspects of a complete settlement agreement and said, We don't accept it.  He went back and rejiggered it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact -- and, of course, Mr. Kaiser, you were the Chair of that panel.  I remember that.  I think what the panel said, specifically, and I don't have the exact words, but it was something like, We are not convinced from the evidence that this part of the settlement is correct, and so we want you to go back and take a look at this again.

You didn't say, Change it to be this.  You didn't make a decision on that part of the evidence.  You just said, We don't accept this, because it is not supported.

MS. CHAPLIN:  It just seems -- I guess I am having difficulty understanding how, in your one-hearing scenario, that it doesn't -- whether there is a partial settlement or a complete settlement, in some of the prior instances what the Board may have decided is they won't accept it; there is not enough evidence.  The parties then can decide whether or not to retain a grey position or go back to their original position.

In your one-hearing scenario, that option seems to be off the table for those parties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's right.  In fact, I think what we're saying is that -- you know, let me put it to you this way.  When Enbridge files a normal rate case, they have to make some decisions on what they ask for.  You don't see those decisions being made in front of the panel.  They happen in back rooms and they make assessments:  What is the right thing to ask for?  Let's balance this against this.  If we ask for this, you know, the Board is going to think we're nuts, but if we ask for this, that's reasonable, et cetera.

They have to make those decisions before they bring the case forward.  I am not asking for anything different.  I am asking the parties that are presenting a case to you to decide what case they want to present to you.

MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose their case is a settlement agreement, which is what it is today.  And I'm using the Ottawa Hydro thing as a good example.  Even though there was complete settlement, the Board said - I will accept your wording - we reject these two parts of this settlement agreement.  It doesn't make sense to us; not enough evidence.

So we had the ability, clearly, on a settlement agreement to accept an aspect or not accept an aspect; and that would apply, you would agree, whether there was complete settlement or partial settlement?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  On the basis of the existing record, we made a decision right then to not accept it.  We could have made a decision to accept it.  Why can't we do the same thing today?  Why do we have to hear further argument on the full record?  Why can't this Board do exactly what it did on Ottawa Hydro, albeit it may reject certain parts of it, say the evidence is sufficient; it may accept other parts of it.

Why can't we do exactly today what we did then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So what you're saying is that you would take a look at the partial settlement and decide, What are we accepting and what are we not accepting?  I think that is exactly right.


I think you need to give each of the parties an opportunity to present a full argument, which, because of the complexity, requires a few weeks.  But aside from that, yes, you're absolutely right.


Then, indeed, I mean, I guess in one sense -- I am thinking on my feet here, which is always dangerous, as you know.  I guess in one sense it is open to the Board, at the end of that process -- you have heard argument on everything and you have looked at the partial settlement.  You made a determination.  You know, is this -- we sort of like this part of it, but this thing, we think that the argument we have heard says that is really not a good component of it.  We shouldn't have that.

MR. KAISER:  I think I might actually be beginning to understand you.  You are not saying much that is very different from Mr. Farrell.  He says you have the right to cross-examination.  You have waived that.  He says you have the right to argue.  You say, I want to argue.

You probably don't disagree about the order.  You just want written argument --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.

MR. KAISER:  And a longer time frame.  That's the difference I see.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  What Mr. Farrell is saying is, Tell us, Board, today that if you don't accept the partial settlement, then we get another kick at the can.

I'm saying, No, you shouldn't tell them that today.  What you should tell them is, Present the case you want us to decide.  And we will decide it.  And if that case is the partial settlement, great.  We will decide whether we like that or whether we want it with variations.


In fact the Board has done that in the past in the 2004 Enbridge rates case the Board took a partial settlement, which was a package, and said, you know, we like this but with one change.  It made a decision.  That is what we're going to do.


But what I was going to add and I think what you were coming to when you were talking about the completely settled analogy, I think is a good analogy is it is open to the Board, when it says:  We accept the partial settlement except for this and this.  It's open to the Board to say:  we would like evidence on those things, or its open to the Board to say:  We realize that this so -- this is so fundamental to the partial settlement that we want to hear evidence on a whole lot of stuff at this point.  It's open to the Board to decide that.  It's not open to the parties to say, to ask for two kicks at the can.  It's open to the Board to say, given what our conclusions on these points, we don't see that it's appropriate to go to decision without hearing more about this, or this, or this.  It's open to you to say that.  I think it should be in your discretion to do.

MR. KAISER:  So is it really with points 8 and 9 of his letter, is that really your disagreement?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And obviously I think oral argument in a case that has experts all over the place is not really practical.  But, yes, that's right.  The request that the Board say today:  You have two kicks at the can, we think should be rejected.  You should say:  You don't have two kicks at the can.  You present your case.  If it turns out that we decide we want to hear more after we have seen arguments, that is our call.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  May I make just one more comment.  We got off talking about stuff and I had one more thing to say.  And that is to say, I proposed what is a relatively lengthy argument process.  I mean, probably a month or something like that, five weeks.  I want to emphasize to the Board, this is $5 billion.  This is the biggest rate case this board has ever heard.  And I think spending the time to get detailed argument so that you have the most benefit of our input, for what it is worth -- I don't mean ours, I mean ours -- is worth it.  If it takes a couple of extra weeks to do that, I think the Board's time is well spent in doing so.  Those are our submissions, Mr. Chair.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Poch, can we fit you in before the break are you going to be long?

MR. POCH:  I think I can do this in about five minutes, Mr. Chair.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I would like to make submissions as well.
Submissions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  First of all, just referring to the excerpts from the past case that Mr. Shepherd placed before you in K1.1.  One of the concerns that was before the Board at that time was raised by Mr. Smith and it has been raised by Mr. Vlahos at page 43 where he says:
"Mr. Smith, your case is that no party will enter into a partial settlement."


Mr. Smith had said to the Board:  If you don't give us this two-step process, then you are going to chill settlement processes in future.  The Board decided to take that risk and you have a partial settlement before you today.  So apparently it didn't chill that possibility.  So first I mention that to start.


I won't repeat the submissions I made there.  They're there for you to read.  Mr. Shepherd has highlighted some of them.  The gist is that what you have before you, in my submission, is an opening statement, if you will, of what the new position of the agreeing parties is.  That's how I think the Board should receive it.


I will also just comment quickly on the exchange the Panel had with Mr. Shepherd about who gets to pick the evidence and so on.  The Board is obliged to make its decision based on evidence.  The Board has repeated this on numerous occasions and required parties to a complete settlement or a settlement of some of the issues, that is universal, to point the Board to the evidence, the prefiled evidence, because the Board is under the statute obliged to make its decision based on the evidence.


It can do that when there is a settlement of any particular issue or set of issues that involves all of the parties, without abrogating the rules of natural justice, audi alteram partem, because in effect all of those parties have said to the Board, We're content not to have an oral evidentiary phase.  We think the written evidence is sufficient.  The Board can make its decision, if that is the case.  So no one's rights are being abrogated.


Where you have a dissenting party, I think it is basic administrative law that they're entitled to have their day in court.  And they're entitled to have their day in court in front of a panel that has an open mind and doesn't have a gun to its head.

In the ordinary course -- well, in this case, the parties are basically saying:  Let's up the ante.  Let's say to the Board, You're going to hear the dissenting, the case on any matter where the parties dissent.  And if you disagree on any one of those matters, the agreement dissolves and then you have to give us the right to present our case afresh.  We may wish to -- we reserve the right to go back to our diverse starting positions, and you get to hear the whole thing again.  That is quite, if I can use that phrase again, a gun to the head for the Board.  You are being asked to have a whole proceeding and then potentially waste that process because you have to hear it all again.  Imagine the complications.  You will have had witnesses supporting the compromise and then they're going to come back to support potentially come back to support alternative initial positions and they're going to get cross-examined about why that compromise was -- it was okay to compromise on this particular item before, what was the offsetting factor, blah, blah, blah, you know.  It gets pretty messy.  I think any impartial observer would say that, in that situation, the Board is going to be under, consciously or subconsciously, despite its best efforts, the Board is going to be under some pretty serious pressure to accept the deal, because it is just going to be a nightmare.  I think that is a terrible precedent.


I know in this case now, given that Mr. Shepherd is saying he is prepared to waive the oral evidentiary phase, I don't know if the other parties are, but there isn't that big spectre of waste that I have set up in my little argument now.  But I think the precedent of allowing this kind of process to go ahead would be most unfortunate.

Imagine the situation you will have created is, I think particularly dangerous for parties in the position that my clients routinely are.  We are not part of the mainstream ratepayer majority in virtually every case.  If those parties are told, Gee, you can come to a deal and leave this -- these, you know, partial issue intervenors out -- a different public perspective than your ratepayer interest, and you can put a gun to the Board's head, threaten the Board that:  If you accept GEC's issue here, the whole deal is off the table and you're going to have to hear the whole case twice.  That's just -- I mean, there is already some pressure on the Board when there is a settlement proposal in front of it.  Of course it is very -- that just ups the ante more.  Why wouldn't they do that in every case?  They're going to drive out any diversity in intervention before you.  I think it is a very, very dangerous precedent to go ahead with.


I think the majority of the parties to the settlement agreement, it is a situation where the Board does not have the comfort of knowing that all parties before it accept this.  There is a live issue before you.  Those parties can elect.  I think Mr. Shepherd is right and I think the Board in the generic gas case was right, and I would urge you to take this route, that put those parties to an election.  They can only put in one case.  They can choose now to agree amongst themselves or not agree amongst themselves but each of them can put in one case, and if they feel that the fact that there is enough of them, then we go away and they find there is enough of them that will put in the case that this compromise is a reasonable mix, then they take their shot at that.

I think -- well, I think I am going to repeat myself.  I am going to stop there, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poch, just so I understand your position, your position is if there is a dissenting party to any agreement, then the Board ought not to recognize the agreement for any purpose and that the matter must go to adjudication, that the Board cannot accept the settlement agreement over the absence of consent of any party, no matter -- isn't that the position?

MR. POCH:  Without having an airing of that issue.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  An airing of that issue in what sense?  Where and how?

MR. POCH:  The party has the right to be heard if they want to present evidence, if they want to cross-examine on the evidence that is being relied upon by the proponents of the deal.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With respect to the settlement agreement?

MR. POCH:  Well, I would say, in the circumstances of this case, for example, they're going to put up a panel and say, We think this is a reasonable compromise of the issues.  We can cross-examine them on that.  We would be entitled, for example, to the extent they're relying -- I mean, if they haven't withdrawn their prefiled evidence, that's before the Board.  It's untested, but it is before the Board.

We would have a right, for example, to say all of that evidence elect.  Take that evidence off the thing, or, if we desire an opportunity for cross-examination, put up your witness so we can test it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If, following that review, which presumably is what -- I think that is what is contemplated in Ms. Newland's letter -- following that review, the Board then said, The Board finds the settlement agreement to be supported by the evidence and adequate, that would be an end to the matter?

MR. POCH:  That would be an end to the matter.  In effect, what has happened is the agreeing parties have altered their starting position; that's all.  They've said, We're in effect refiling our case.  Everyone knows what has happened here.  It's a compromise, and that's our position.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You're losing me.

MR. POCH:  What we object to, sir, if I can try to be helpful, is them reserving the right to say, And if the Board doesn't side with them, then they get to go back and do another case, their original case.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the innovation that you propose as opposed to what Ms. Newland has proposed in her letter, the idea that they are now -- your suggestion is that they are now frozen at the position -- if the Board refuses to accept the settlement agreement and says the settlement agreement is not supported, then they are still bound to the terms of the settlement agreement going forward.  That's the innovation that you are proposing?

MR. POCH:  It will be like any other case.  The Board will have heard the case of the applicant, which may -- in this instance would be supported by a bunch of other agreeing parties, to the extent they hold together in one position.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. POCH:  And part of their evidence is that they should be persuasive on the Board, in part, because a lot of parties agree to it and, therefore, the Board can take whatever comfort it can take from that, and they will hear the opposing case.  And the Board will make its decision just like any other case.  That's it, full stop.

But what I object to is this reservation of a right to say, Well, if you don't accept our case in its entirety, in every detail, then we get to come back and do another case.  That's the kind of jeopardy the Board puts itself in if it doesn't accept the case in its full detail.

We're saying for the Board to put itself in that jeopardy is to create an appearance of bias.  That is what it really amounts to, an appearance of unfairness.  It is a very risky position, it seems to me, for the Board's reputation, and it creates a precedent which I think will be -- it's too inviting for other parties to abuse to the detriment of dissenting parties in future.  So that's it, in summation.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I am prepared to proceed, but if the Board wishes to take the break then --

MR. KAISER:  How long are you going to be?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Fifteen minutes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, why don't we take the break, then, and we will come back in 15 minutes?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would it be helpful to understand -- Board Staff has a short submission, but maybe it would be helpful to understand who else plans to make submissions on this issue, just so we can consider timing.

MR. DeROSE:  I actually would put the question to the Panel.  You have started with those opposing it.  There have been some issues raised which, quite frankly, I would like to speak to, but I am in your hands.

The appropriateness of myself going after Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Poch, I think if I went, I would suspect that Mr. Shepherd may want to have some sort of reply.  I would be fine with that.  I think it would be a fair approach, but I do have a few comments that I would like to make.

MR. KAISER:  Well, if you have some comments, we will have to hear them and we will have to allow anyone else who wants the opportunity to respond to respond.

MR. DeROSE:  I will be short.  Ten minutes, or five.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Fifteen minutes.


--- Recess at 11:11 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Klippenstein.  Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I represent Pollution Probe, which is one of the parties not included in the agreement, and I would like to make a couple of submissions, basically suggesting with respect to all parties that the proposal in the January 30th, 2008 letter should not be accepted because, among other things - and I say this with respect - that it is not fair.  My first suggestion would be that we step back and remember the framework in which we are all operating, which is that the statute has set up the Board to hear evidence, hear argument, and make decisions.  That's the basic framework that we're operating with.  I recognize that the statute has granted the Board a wide variety and range of powers to govern its procedure, to make rules, to facilitate settlement, but that, if I may say, is the tail on the dog.  And at least as things stand now, the primary core at the end of the day, is that we have a tribunal who hears the evidence and makes decisions.


Now, that doesn't mean that settlements can't be facilitated, that it can't be hugely beneficial, that may be the tail on the dog, but that doesn't mean that the tail can't be a very fine tail and very glorious, but it shouldn't wag the dog.  And we shouldn't at all feel guilty, I think, if we can't make the settlement work in every case.  So far the legal regime has decided that having a Board that can make a decision at the end of the day is still fundamental.


My second point is that what the proposal engenders or includes is an unfairness for someone in my client's position, because it requires sort of a two-stage presentation for Pollution Probe.  And as an aside, I should say that Pollution Probe and other similar parties have been referred to as outliers or dissidents.  I respectfully decline to accept that label, because we may, in the end, be right.  We may be a different view than everybody else, and we may be right.  The Board is the one who makes the decision, but we may be right.  And again, that is the whole purpose of the present structure; to allow views to come out that may be unpopular, but right, and in the public interest.


What this procedure does is it requires Pollution Probe to argue against the proposed settlement proposal.  If I lose, I am out.  If I win, I don't really win, I just get to argue another day.  So I have to go through two arguments, two presentations in my case.  That is unfair, both in an ordinary common-sense procedural sense, and legally, in my submission.  It is particularly unfair since the first round I can't win.  I can just survive.  Part of that, effectively, is that it shifts the onus to me in the first round because in order to survive, I have to present a good case.


Now, part of the problem -- in fact the core of the problem in my submission here -- is the non-severability clause in this settlement proposal.  By putting it to the Board on this supreme condition that nothing can touch any part, we find ourselves with a serious set of problems.  I don't criticize the parties for putting that in there, I can understand why they might want to, but they didn't have to and they chose to do that.  And whether it is deliberate or not, it does set up some incentives.  It puts pressure on the Board, whether that was intended or not and whether we like that or not.  The other thing it does is reaches outside the corner or the circle of the agreement and affects my client who is outside the circle.  Because now they have, deliberately or not, reached out and forced my client into a different position before the Board.


Now, in my submission, it is not a true settlement agreement, really, because of that condition.  It's not saying to the Board:  We have agreed on this.  Would you please decide whether to accept it or not.  That non-severability condition, when it inevitably affects my client, changes the dynamic and puts at issue Pollution Probe's position otherwise than through presentation of a case.

So in my submission, intended or not, unfortunately, there is a major defect in this settlement proposal.  It is not truly a settlement proposal.  In a way it is almost like bargaining with the Board, saying:  Try this one.  You don't like this?  We got another one.  And that is not, in my submission, the ideal work to work a settlement process.

My third point, or I am at around three points, I think, is another version of the unfairness in the proposal is that, I would say that the applicant gets three kicks at the can.  And that's just basically unfair.  The three kicks are when they defend their proposal before you.  Then you decide whether or not it is okay.  Then the second kick at the can is they get to now decide whether to keep the agreement or not.  So they get a second kick -- they have this agreement now and they can decide to stick with it or jettison it.  That is the second kick at the can.  The third kick at the can is then the full hearing.


So in my submission that is simply unfair, both in ordinary common sense of fairness, of having three kicks at the can in a process which is supposed to be logical and have a decision end point, and probably legally unfair, in a legal sense.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Klippenstein, I am not sure -- it seems to me we have gone, in your submissions you have gone well past the various incidents in the matter.  We haven't got to the point where the question of severability is really live.  We only get to that point if the Board decides that it's going to accept -- not going to accept some portion of the settlement agreement, and as the Chair has pointed out the Board has, on instances in the past, not accepted portions of complete settlements.  So we don't get to that severability.  And the harm that you see flowing in with that severability aspect doesn't really become germane until the Board has actually disapproved of the settlement agreement.  Unless you're saying that the Board can't accept the settlement agreement no matter what, because you dissent?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's what I'm saying.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You're say that no settlement agreement can survive the dissent of any party in the case?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I am saying that, but that sounds very harsh and radical and the reason it does is because of the non-severability clause being put in there.  So I am not blaming anybody.  But...

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It doesn't follow.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Since the proposed agreement contradicts Pollution Probe's view on the Y factor, by accepting the agreement, Pollution Probe's position is necessarily defeated.  So that is a part of the structure here.  Now -- so I would be happy to say for the Board to say, We will consider the large overall settlement, yes or no, but we will preserve Pollution Probe's right to argue let's call it a little single issue.  I am not saying we could, with one single dissent stop all agreements.  By no means.  I think it would be quite -- and it's probably rational overall -- to say everyone else can settle everything else.  Pollution Probe has this little point over there which can go to a short hearing.  But that has not been way this settlement agreement structures it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we're clear about this issue of the severability.  The severability, the unfairness that you see coming in with the non-severability clause, only arises if the Board decides that it is not going to accept the settlement agreement and that puts the proponents of the settlement agreement perhaps at some election.  So unless you accept the proposition that a single dissent can unseat a settlement agreement, or a -- so the dissent can, by itself, defeat the settlement agreement, no matter what, then the harm that you see coming in with the non-severability clause doesn't arise.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, as I understand the process, I still have to defend Pollution Probe's position at the initial stage before the Board make its first decision, so that --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You have to convince the Board that the settlement agreement ought not to be accepted.  I think that is...


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the only thing I would be directed at is it will not be accepted with respect to Pollution Probe's issue.  I don't mind about the rest, but, even given that, I am prejudiced from the start, because before the Board can make the decision that I think you are referring to, even before that, I have to try and defend that little corner of the settlement agreement which undermines Pollution Probe.  I have to argue against that part of it.

So I think I understand the concern, and, unfortunately, as I understand the proposal, my prejudice is already built in before the decision that you get to.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  But that prejudice arises only if the Board accepts the take-it-or-leave-it clause.  There have been cases where -- I pointed to one, where the Board didn't accept the take-it-or-leave-it clause that Mr. Farrell put in that agreement.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Correct.  And the case of the Natural Gas DSM, in which I argued more or less what I am arguing today, the same thing happened.  There was the non-severability clause and the Board didn't accept that.


And that's my position today.  I am consistent with what I argued two years ago, for once, but...


MR. KAISER:  So your main point is you can go along with the procedure -- let me ask you:  Are you okay with Enbridge's procedure, with the exception of the take-it-or-leave-it clause, or you have other reservations?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I would phrase it differently.  I am okay with that procedure, subject to Pollution Probe being able to argue, in the ordinary sense, its one issue.  Now, unfortunately, that pulls in the non-severability clause, because that clause contradicts what I have just said, as I understand it.

They won't let me -- I don't mean "they".  I mean that it won't let me have a fair hearing on Pollution Probe's issue.  If that were allowed, I wouldn't have a problem.  I'm not trying to hold up everything else, by any means.

So -- but I guess perhaps -- and I could be wrong, I could be overly pessimistic, but, as I understand the non-severability clause, what I have just said isn't allowed, because if I argue Pollution Probe's case on the one issue, the Y factor, and I win, it will affect other terms of the agreement, and that's exactly what the non-severability clause is not apparently allowing.


MR. KAISER:  Correct, dependent upon the Board accepting the non-severability.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the terms of the agreement itself predicts that if the Board refuses to accept a portion of the settlement agreement, the parties then have agreed, as part of that settlement agreement, to consider whether they will adopt the remaining portions as a package, if you like.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I mean, it anticipates that outcome.  So it is not clear to me that there is an inherent prejudice.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Well, the problem I have is that if the Board is going to consider the agreement, then I am obliged, now, I think, to put forward Pollution Probe's position on the Y factor even before you decide on the non-severability clause or the agreement.

So I have to step forward and convince you to preserve Pollution Probe's rights, contrary to what the settlement agreement says.  Both -- I mean, there are parts of the settlement agreement which contradict the position Pollution Probe wants to put forward.

Now, I would be happy if the Board said, Well, we will allow the settlement agreement.  We will disallow the non-severability clause.

I don't really care how it happens.  I don't want to stop everybody else.  All I say is, from my little corner, that fairness requires that Pollution Probe have its day in court on its -- I will say little issue, but -- and if...


MR. KAISER:  Did you ask Mr. Farrell if he would sever your issues?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I'm sorry?


MR. KAISER:  Did you ask Mr. Farrell if he would agree to severing your issues?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  No.  I did --


MR. KAISER:  Did you?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The reason I did not is because, to me, this non-severability clause shouts out loud, Don't bother asking.  If I am wrong and I should have asked, I apologize.


MR. POCH:  I should say, Mr. Chairman, in fairness to Mr. Farrell, of course it wouldn't have been just up to him.  He would have had to have gotten the consent of all his...


MR. KAISER:  No.  I realize that.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In my submission, it would be quite appropriate for the Board simply to say it's improper to have a large coalition freeze out Pollution Probe, so we're going to allow Pollution Probe to go ahead and the rest of you can -- you know, we will make a decision on the merits of the settlement agreement.


Exactly how that is worded, I mean, I don't -- I would have maybe some thoughts, but...


MR. KAISER:  Would I be right, Mr. Poch, that your position would be similar to Mr. Klippenstein's?


MR. POCH:  Yes.  I think Mr. Klippenstein is making a slightly different point than mine.  He speaks of the unfairness of having to go through -- in effect, go through a hearing twice, as we are in the position we have now, and the first time you don't even have any chance of winning.  You just have a chance of losing.

My point is more about the fact -- I mean, the Board is always under some pressure when there is a proposal, a settlement proposal, before it, in the sense it is an inviting -- it is inviting to accept a settlement.

So there would be concern that a dissenting party, even if their issue is -- well, if you accept my process, they don't get to reserve the right to run their case a second time.


I'm still faced with all of them on one side, assuming they agree to stick by their deal, all of them agreeing to their deal and telling the Board, We think this is a reasonable compromise and look how diverse the groups are that have signed on.  I am still faced with opposing that.  That is a heck of a burden for me to face.  I accept that.  What I don't accept is the added unfairness of that -- and they get to say to the Board, And if you don't agree with everything we say, we get to run our case again, as we choose, in some different formulation.


MR. KAISER:  I realize that.  But let's suppose we said that -- didn't accept the take-it-or-leave-it clause.


MR. POCH:  Right.


MR. KAISER:  Both of you would have the opportunity to make your case on the issues in which you are opposing the applicant?


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  There is no question the Board could agree or not agree.


MR. POCH:  That's right.


MR. KAISER:  There is no unfairness there, is there?


MR. POCH:  No.  If you say, We'll receive your agreement as your position and you will put what evidence you feel you want to to support in, we don't accept the all-or-nothing clause, then it is really just like any other case.

It is just that the proponent has altered their starting position and a number of parties have decided to align with them, just like any case before the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Your basic point is an all-or-nothing clause is unfair to certain parties who have very limited interests?


MR. POCH:  Yes.  And if, on the other hand, there are no dissenting parties, it is perfectly acceptable to have an all-or-nothing clause, because -- and the Board is faced with that, because no one is being picked off, as it were.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  There is two aspects to the all-or-nothing clause.  One is a potential unfairness to other parties and to the procedure, and the other is a potential restraint on the Board's decision-making power, and those are two separate issues that can be handled differently.

Even if the Board did, by whatever method, effectively preserve Pollution Probe's right to argue and fairly have a decision on its issue, I do have some lingering concern there is another unfairness just from the applicant having several kicks at the can, several attempts.

Now, if my client's interests can be preserved in that, I suppose I could say I am not going to make a big issue of that, although I might have a general fairness concern, but it might not affect my client.  I'm not sure I should be so self-centred.


In my submission, you know, with respect to the overall settlement situation we find ourselves in, I think the all-or-nothing clause is, logically speaking, an attempt to reduce certain kinds of risks, and there are many components of a package like this and many risks.  And, okay, that's one risk they tried to deal with, and I am not sure that that should be the focus.  There is many risks.

But, overall, in a large group that is attempting to reach a settlement, my sense is that there is the possibility of adopting other procedures or strategies that would facilitate overall settlement agreements that avoid some of these problems.  I mean, I know that there is various aspects of institutional analysis, game theory looks at this all the time and they come up with very interesting ideas.  It may be that there are better ways to facilitate these large settlements than finding ourselves in particular to this situation while at the same time preserving the Board's right and duty, in my submission, for a fair decision.  Those are my submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. DeRose, did you have something?

Submissions by Mr. DeRose:

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, I have four points to make in response to issues that my friends have raised today.  The first is this:  With respect to reference to the DSM generic hearing, there's been a lot of talk about that.  You have been read this morning portions of the decision and portions of the submissions made to that panel by various parties, including Mr. Smith and Mr. Poch.  I think it is trite law that this Panel is not bound by that decision.  In my submission, whatever submissions parties made to that panel are irrelevant to your consideration of the issues today.  And, in fact, while you can find guidance from what your previous panels of this Board have done in previous decisions, it is not a precedent and you are not bound by it.


In my submission, the DSM generic case does not stand for the proposition that partial settlements cannot be accepted without a full hearing.  In fact, that would be inconsistent with Rule 32.  And I would urge this Panel to go back and read the DSM generic decision very carefully.  Because what I would submit actually occurred there was that the panel did not accept the partial settlement agreement presented to them by the parties.  That determination was made by that panel.  That is the determination we are asking you to make today.  Once that determination was made, they did not accept the partial settlement agreement, parties then retreated and chose to speak in a unified voice.  That's an advocacy decision and all of the parties to the partial agreement, in the DSM generic hearing, all continued to support the same position.  But to be clear, when you read that decision -- although the panel refers to the fact that they had a partial settlement before them and parties continued to be consistent with those positions, the panel was making a decision based on a full hearing on the merits.  They were not making a decision on whether to accept or reject the partial settlement agreement, full stop.  They were making determinations on an issue-by-issue basis that, in the end, would absolutely 100 percent consistent with the partial settlement agreement.


So I simply just say that in terms of the context.  That case does not stand for the proposition that this Panel cannot accept a partial settlement agreement today or in the absence of a full hearing.


My second point is this:  In the normal course, when you have a complete settlement agreement before you, it is presented to you.  You then will contemplate on it and you will either accept it or reject it.  Mr. Chair, as you have pointed out this morning, this Panel -- and members of this Panel -- have rejected complete settlements.  That happens.  And when you accept a complete settlement, it normally follows in a decision.  When you reject it, it will either result in another settlement being put before you for your further consideration, or it will proceed to a full hearing.


In my submission, what we are asking you to do today in the context of a partial settlement is completely consistent with that approach.  You have a partial settlement before you.  It will be presented to you.  The one difference -- and this is contemplated by the Rules -- is that those opposed have the right to cross-examine and to bring any evidence that they feel is necessary to put before you in opposition to the partial settlement agreement.  When you hear that and when that is completed, you must then reflect on the partial settlement agreement and make a determination:  Do you accept the partial settlement agreement?  Or do you not accept the partial settlement agreement?  At that point, if you accept it, a Board decision will issue.  If you reject it, then presumably, subject to a further issues day and another form of a settlement agreement being put before you, all issues will go to hearing.


Whether the parties speak with a unified voice at that hearing is unknown today, and in my submission, is irrelevant to your consideration of the partial settlement agreement.  That is something that will only be triggered if you find, in your judgment, that the partial settlement agreement should be rejected.


So in my submission, the decision that you should be making at this stage is as follows:  Should you accept or reject the partial settlement agreement before you?  Full stop.


The third point is this.  Mr. Shepherd has referred to two kicks at the can.  Mr. Klippenstein, not wanting to be outdone, has referred to three kicks at the can.  I simply want to clarify this.  What I am talking about and the process set out by your Rules, contemplate one kick at two cans.  And I say it for this reason:  Number 1, you put the partial settlement or the complete settlement agreement before you.  You accept it or reject it.  That's a kick at a settlement.  If you reject it, subject to another settlement agreement being put before you, it goes to hearing on the full merits.  And that's one kick at a hearing on the merits.  So what is before you is not two kicks at the can, where the parties get one kick at the issues on the merits, and if they don't like the determination you make, they get a second kick at the can on the merits.  That is simply not, in my submission, what is before you.

My friends' argument is premised on the belief or assumption that a partial settlement agreement, as of right, cannot be accepted without a full hearing on the merits.  And Mr. Poch has used the phrase "a gun to the head."  If you want to talk about a gun to the head, they are asking you to accept a proposition that says:  Any single intervenor can force a full application on the merits to go forward if they don't accept an agreement, regardless of what position they take.  And I simply say, that is not consistent with your Rules and at law that must be wrong.


The final point, and I just -- I think it can probably go without saying but I don't want to leave it hanging out there is Mr. Poch's suggestion that a partial settlement agreement that is non-severable constitutes a gun to your head and that this is some form of apprehension of bias.  I would submit to you that precedent would contradict that.  This panel, as I've said in the Ottawa Hydro case, has - I believe it was Ottawa Hydro - has rejected a complete settlement.  If you are willing to reject a complete settlement, surely you would be willing to reject a partial settlement.  And in my submission, a right-minded person, viewing this panel's process and the process contemplated by the Rules, would not conclude that this panel was biased, because it considered -- and if you accept -- accepted a partial settlement agreement.  That simply would not, at law, meet the test for a reasonable apprehension of bias and on its face should be rejected.


Subject to any questions that you have on behalf of IGUA, those are our submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  Anyone else want to speak before we turn to Board counsel?

MR. WARREN:  May I briefly, Mr. Chairman.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  In my respectful submission, members of the Panel, the issue -- the only issue before you at this stage is whether or not the Board should accept or reject partial settlement.  I think we need to return to first principles.  The Board's processes encourage settlement.  The ADR process is a mandatory part of every application.  There are rules governing it.  When parties enter into a partial or complete settlement, they are, by necessity, compromising various interests and the Board has to be sensitive to that very issue.

The second point is that the Board's Rules, by necessary implication, recognize the potential prejudice to parties that don't agree with a partial settlement, and they recognize the prejudice by giving them a right to lead evidence.

We have heard a lot of, in my respectful submission and with great respect, imprecise use of the term "fairness".  The Board's Rules provide for fairness, in that they give an opportunity to lead evidence as to why the partial settlement shouldn't be accepted.

It is analogous if you want, in a way, to a leave to appeal application.  They can persuade the Board that the partial settlement shouldn't be heard, and then the Board goes on to hear the merits of their particular issue.  There is no fairness issue, in my respectful submission, raised by the proposal that is made in my friend Ms. Newland's letter.

Mr. Shepherd - I will refer to him, in particular, because he is the one who is opposing on so many issues - has to make choice, and his choice is:  Do I lead any evidence today as to why this settlement should not be rejected?

If he chooses not to lead that evidence, which is his right under the Rules, he has to live with the consequences of doing that.  That's his -- this is his moment to make that choice.  He bears the evidentiary burden, which is placed on him by the Board's Rules.  If he elects not to do it, then of course the Board has to decide whether or not there is any evidence upon which it can reject the settlement.  And there will be an --


[Fire alarm sounds]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If we are obliged to evacuate, we are.  You know, hopefully that doesn't happen, but we will muster at the stairway just outside the doors here and proceed down.  The safe place for the Board people to congregate is at the Salvation Army building across the street.

[Laughter]

MR. KAISER:  The soup is on by now.

[Laughter]

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Bring lots of spare change and -- but I don't think that is a signal for immediate evacuation.

MS. NEWLAND:  Can we go off the air?  Michael, can we go off the air?

MR. KAISER:  Oh, yes.

[Off air]

[Fire alarm sounds]

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We are back on the air.

MR. WARREN:  My last penultimate point was --

MR. KAISER:  Microphone.

MR. WARREN:  -- that the Board's Rules provide the procedural fairness of which my friends complain, that they are entitled and, indeed, in my respectful submission, obligated at this point to elect to lead what evidence they can.

The final point I wanted to make, Mr. Chairman, and this is really very -- it's a difficult point of both practice and principle, which, in my respectful submission, the Board has to grapple with.  Mr. Shepherd, in his submissions this morning, said that he can make a case
that --


[Fire alarm sounds]

MR. KAISER:  Sorry.

MR. WARREN:  My last point is this.  Mr. Shepherd said he can make a case, the entire case, that a different regime is in the public interest.  In my respectful submission, the Board's processes rely on individual constituencies making representations about how their constituencies' interests are best protected.

The highest case, I say with respect, Mr. Shepherd can and is entitled to make is that this settlement agreement is contrary to the interests of his clients.  He doesn't speak for Mr. DeRose's clients.  He doesn't speak for my clients.  And that is something which the Board has to keep in mind when it decides what weight it should be -- it should give to the submissions which he makes after he decides whether or not he is going to lead evidence.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Do you agree with his proposition that he can rely upon the evidence in the record in making his submissions?

MR. WARREN:  I would argue, sir, that he has to lead  -- that he cannot, that he has to lead evidence, specific evidence, as to why this settlement should be rejected.  That evidence was evidence which was led on -- largely on econometric issues about what the form and content of what an incentive regulation should be.  It does not speak to the settlement.  The settlement is a different issue.

If Mr. Shepherd wants to -- is obliged, in my respectful submission, to lead evidence about why this settlement agreement is not in the interests of his clients.  For us to argue -- I think it was Mr. Sommerville who made the point this morning that we can argue at length that evidence which was not addressed in the settlement agreement is somehow relevant to it.

Mr. Shepherd is obliged to make that evidence relevant to the settlement.  The long-winded answer to your question, no, I don't agree with him on that point.

MR. KAISER:  But if we are to approve the settlement agreement, the applicant itself has pointed us to evidence in the record as the basis for approving the settlement agreement.  Why can't an opponent refer to the same evidence?

MR. WARREN:  I say, with respect, Mr. Farrell has to.  I can only speak to this from my client's perspective in signing on to it.  What the evidence is is there is a lot of evidence, and the settlement agreement contains, in effect, a comprehensive list of all of the evidence that was led that spoke to a particular issue.

What the parties do when they're reaching a compromise is they say, We're going to take a part of that evidence or a part of that evidence, or none of that evidence.

Let's take the X factor.  We're going to take a different calculation to the X factor, because we believe that it is particularly relevant to this settlement.  So the evidence is simultaneously irrelevant and not relevant to the settlement agreement.


So if Mr. Shepherd says there are particular components of it which support his position, he is obliged to lead that evidence now.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Anyone else before we turn to Mr. Millar?  Mr. Penny.
Submissions by Mr. Penny:


MR. PENNY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Union does not have a direct interest in this particular settlement, so I have no comment on the specific facts of Enbridge's settlement in this case, but we do have an interest, of course, in the structure and processes adopted by the Board, so I will confine my remarks to one issue only, and that is I want to address the issue of non-severability clauses and, in effect, defend those clauses as being an important and necessary component of settlements.

The reason I say they are important and necessary results from some issues that Ms. Chaplin and Mr. Sommerville have alluded to earlier this morning, which is that settlements result from compromises.  And parties, in agreeing to a certain package of compromises make their decision on whether to agree or not agree based on the things that they feel they got from those compromises and the things that they think they gave up in those compromises.  The reason why non-severability clauses are placed in these agreements is not to put guns to anyone's head, with these flashy analogies.  It is a simple recognition of the reality, that if one party agrees to something, it's because of the totality of the package that they were able to achieve.  They gave up some things and they got some things in that context.  If what they are required to do is then commit to that with no -- and then permit the Board, for example, to change that mix with no recourse, then they're put, in my respectful submission, in an impossible position.  Because they never would have made that agreement in the first place had they known that those changes were going to be affected.


To take an extreme example, for example, if there was, say, a balance of ten things that were decided.  Five of them were helpful to the applicant and five were not helpful to the applicant, the Board would say:  Well, no, you're stuck with this now.  But we don't accept any of the things that were helpful to the applicant.  But we accept and we're going to change all of those.  But we do accept all of the things that were not helpful to the applicant, that would be profoundly unfair and, if that were the result of these processes - I am speaking here just as a structural matter, of course - if that were the result of these processes then there would be no incentive to enter into settlements.  And I can say, speaking for my client, that we would be very concerned and think long and hard about whether it was even appropriate to enter into a settlement on that basis.


So the non-severability clauses, in my submission, are an important and necessary protection to facilitate settlements.  That's all I have to say.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.  Much of what I had planned to say has already been said so I will be quite brief.


You have heard the two options that are before you.  Staff is not taking a position on what is preferable, but we do think it is important that the Board come to a decision on this so all of the parties are aware of what the ground rules are going forward.  I think the parties are entitled to that and everyone has to know how we're going to proceed.


I did prepare some materials that I have already distributed to the Panel.  In fact, we have already seen some of this distributed.  Unless there are any objections, I don't think there are, these are all commonly known documents.  I will call this Exhibit K1.2.  I have copies here if parties wish to see them.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  EXTRACT FROM BOARD’S RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE RELATING TO SETTLEMENT PROPOSALS

MR. MILLAR:  All it is, is I have produced the extract from the Board's Rules Of Practice and Procedure relating to settlement proposals.  I have produced the relevant extract from the Board's guidelines on settlement agreements.  And I have produced transcripts from two cases.  One is the case that Mr. Shepherd has already referred to, that's the generic DSM proceeding and the first one is -- the one prior to that, as it appears in the materials is from EB-2005-0520 which is the Union, I think 2006 rates case, in which a partial settlement was also presented in that case.


I don't propose to go over what the two options are.  I think the parties have been very clear on the decision you are faced with, so I prepared a summary of it, but I don't think that is necessary, unless the Panel is in any way unclear regarding what's being proposed.  So I will move right to the documents.


The Rules have been referred to, but I think 32.04 is the relevant one here.  I will read it out because it is quite short, it says:
"A party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue will be entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine on the issue at the hearing."


Then if you turn the page, it is not marked at the top, but this is taken directly from the Practice Direction on Settlements.  It essentially says the same thing in some slightly different words; it says:
"A party who has been identified in the settlement proposal as a party who does not agree to the settlement of an issue is entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine the applicant on that issue at the hearing."


Then it has a short provision about written hearings.

So what you can take from that, I guess, is that, as the parties have pointed out, parties in opposition to a settlement have certain rights.  I guess as I see it, neither of the proposals that you have heard are inconsistent with what is stated there.  So they both appear to be consistent with that.


To look very briefly at the precedents, you have already heard about the generic DSM.  Mr. Shepherd has taken you through it as well as Mr. Poch, Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. DeRose mentioned it as well.  I don't propose to go through it again.  The other precedent is, I'm not sure how much help the second one is, quite frankly, but I had to sit through it so I am going to make you listen to it now.  Mr. Penny will recall it as well.


This was an instance where there was a -- almost a complete settlement.  There are actually a couple of issues that weren't settled.  But it was a partial settlement, in that all of the intervenors agreed, save one, and that one intervenor was a single ratepayer, just a private citizen.  In that case, the way the Board dealt with, it was Mr. Penny presented the settlement and this gentleman, Mr. Crockford, was given the opportunity to make submissions to the Board as to why they shouldn't accept it.  So he made some very brief submissions.  The panel considered those, and then ultimately chose to accept the settlement as filed.


I realize that is not exactly on point here, but it was the only other partial settlement I had been involved with so I thought I would put that on the record for your review.  You can see it was an oral decision and oral comments.  So I have reproduced the relevant extracts from the transcript.


So I don't have much to add.  Those are the Rules.  That's the guideline.  Those are the precedents that I have before me.  So I think the important thing is the Panel make a decision on this so that all of the parties know the grounds rules.


There is one final thing I wish to add.  If you are inclined to go with Mr. Shepherd's suggestion, I guess what happens is, the partial settlement essentially becomes a joint position.  I think the parties are in agreement on that.  As the settlement is currently written, it states that Board Staff takes no position on any of these settled issues.  I'm not resiling from that in any way, but I guess it leaves open the question, if we go forward to a full hearing, as Mr. Shepherd suggests and this becomes a partial -- pardon me, a joint position rather than a partial settlement, I don't think, necessarily, we would be taking positions on the issues but we certainly might.  If Dr. Lowry is called, for example, we may have questions of him and of the other witnesses as well.  It is not entirely clear what happens to Board Staff's view of not taking any position on issues that is contained in the settlement.


So I don't know how that works out but I guess it is not entirely clear to me, if all of the other parties are allowed to resile from the partial settlement, I think that was suggested, if you go with Mr. Shepherd's suggestion, then what happens with Board Staff?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Board Staff is not a party to the agreement.

MR. MILLAR:  No, they're not a party to the agreement.  But as it is currently written, it says:

"Board Staff takes no position on any issue in the settlement."


I guess the question is if the settlement becomes a joint position, what happens with that sentence?  I am not trying to cause problems.  I'm not suggesting that we are going to be doing anything nefarious, of course, but it is just an open question to me; what happens there?


Subject to any questions you may have, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, that's my submission.

MR. KAISER:  Do you agree with Mr. Warren, the only evidence that Mr. Shepherd could rely on is evidence that he introduces in this proceeding?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, there is evidence on the record.  I'm not sure he should be prevented from referring to prefiled materials.  It seems to me that other parties may have a right to cross-examine those witnesses.  Let's say Mr. Shepherd wants to rely on Dr. Loube, and he refers to Dr. Loube's report or his testimony in the Technical Conferences.  The other parties may wish to have Dr. Loube there, because they may wish to clarify something or take issue with the way Mr. Shepherd has characterized it.  But I am not certain he can't discuss the prefiled materials.

MR. KAISER:  Who calls that witness?

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I guess that's the question.  Does he have to call Dr. Loube, for example, to refer to the -- refer to Dr. Loube's report?  I am not sure he has to do that.  But I think if any party wishes to cross-examine, Dr. Loube has to be made available so that that can be challenged.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  It may be that Mr. Shepherd wants -- I am just using Dr. Loube as an example.  He may wish to say maybe Dr. Lowry is a better example because he has specific numbers.  Maybe Mr. Shepherd wishes to say Dr. Lowry's number for X was whatever it is.  I am not sure he has to call Dr. Lowry to simply refer to that line in the report.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  None of those witnesses are witnesses of the party who would be calling him, though; isn't that right?

MR. MILLAR:  Their witness is the Brattle Group.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So do they have to be subpoenaed, for example?

MR. MILLAR:  I think if Mr. Shepherd or anyone insisted on calling Dr. Lowry, I don't think we would make him subpoena him, we would probably make him available but I don't know about Mr. Loube or if he wished to question the Brattle Group.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Who would pay for Mr. Lowry's attendance?

MR. MILLAR:  The Board Staff is very generous, Mr. Sommerville.  I assume we would, but with Dr. Loube, I don't know the answer to that question.

MR. KAISER:  You better check with your wife.  You might be paying.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  I don't know.  It's a good question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is evidence that has been proffered by parties in the case.

MR. MILLAR:  Presumably it is ultimately the ratepayer that ends up paying, on the assumption that the evidence is seen to be reasonable, but I am not sure of the answer to that.

MR. KAISER:  Did any of the three parties opposing here wish to make comments to what you made -- after you spoke?

MR. POCH:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, if I could just make two brief points in response.  I think perhaps I will put them in the mouth of my friend Mr. Warren, to the best of my memory.

One point he made was that we have our remedy.  We can call evidence.  Well, that is no remedy for a party in the position we find ourselves in.  We are a limited-issue intervenor.  I would have to call evidence on the whole settlement proposal, become, you know, instantly conversant in all of these other issues which we have not been involved in, to persuade the Board that this overall compromise isn't a reasonable overall compromise.

It puts us in an impossible position.  We would never be able to meet that burden, as a practical matter.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's not so, Mr. Poch.  The settlement agreement simply says that none of the terms are severable.  First of all, it doesn't bind the Board.  The Board is not a party to the agreement.

The settlement says it is non-severable.  Even if we were to accept the non-severability of it, there is a provision within the agreement that allows those parties to change their position, to make a determination as to whether they're going to continue with their adoption of the agreement.

So it is not as if you would have to defend the entire settlement proposal, is it?  Unless you are suggesting that this Board, contrary to our practice, feels itself to be inextricably bound to these agreements?

MR. POCH:  Here is the problem, I face, sir.  If in a situation where there is a proposal put forward that has a non-severability clause, and we are outliers that were on one issue, but that issue has been captured in their non-severability clause, and if we go with the proposal, procedural proposal, they're talking about, the Board is faced with this decision at the outset.

They're going to hear whatever evidence is offered by -- to support the proposal and to challenge the proposal.  Then the Board has to say, Okay, I have a compromise, you know, a balancing act that has been put forward in this settlement, and I have this one party who -- you know, if you looked at that issue independently, I might agree with.  But if I agree with him, I lose the whole settlement deal.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has already done that in previous cases.  In a case that was cited by Mr. Shepherd, the Board did precisely that.

MR. POCH:  All I'm suggesting is that certainly I wouldn't be in a position to make any case before the Board about whether the overall settlement agreement is a reasonable compromise.  I'm not involved in those issues.  I will lose that every time, you know.

So a party, in my position, that's the risk I was -- I referred to earlier, and I won't repeat, simply the risk of always being frozen out by the majority.

The other point Mr. Warren made was that if you accept our logic, then any party is always in a position of derailing a settlement and causing a whole hearing if they dissent on one issue.  The point there is that the other parties do have a remedy for that.  They can make their -- if they can make a deal that doesn't involve that issue, they can preserve their balance and they can -- if they can reach that.


They have the opportunity to try to carve out a deal on every other issue and just leave this one severed.  And that, of course, happened -- that is exactly what has happened in the Union case in this proceeding.  The other parties have agreed.  The package stands whether you accept either GEC's or Pollution Probe's alternative proposal with respect to customer initiatives.  And they will take their shot on that issue, too.

So that is their remedy and that is how that problem gets avoided.
Further Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I have a response to the reference to Rule 32.04 made by several parties.  I believe that is on the exhibit 1.2 before you.  It says:

"A party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue will be entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine on the issue at the hearing."

Some people suggested that that supported the fairness of the procedure proposed by Ms. Newland, or at least that was my understanding.  What I would like to emphasize is the words "an issue":
"A party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue will be entitled to ..."

That is the situation of Pollution Probe.  I am happy to address our issue.  What this proposal does is it asks me to address almost the whole agreement because of the non-severability clause.  So I see beneath the surface a conflict between this rule and the non-severability clause.

And I have one further issue, which is:  What happens after 32.04?  If, as I understand this rule, the Board then decides on that issue one way or the other, that is what I am happy to live with.

However, the proposal before you says something else, as I understand it, because I am required on behalf of Pollution Probe to argue against that part of the settlement agreement to preserve my right.  But what happens then is not that I may get a decision in my favour.  Instead, the group gets another choice to either accept -- to continue with their settlement agreement or not, and then they get a further full hearing.


So unlike 32.04 - which I interpret to mean we get to make our position on the issue, then we get a Board decision on the issue - the proposal before you adds several subsequent layers, which, in my view, is unfair in various ways.

MR. KAISER:  Put differently, you say that once we make a decision, whether we accept or don't accept the settlement proposal, it is binding on the applicant?  They don't get to take all of their cards and go home and do something else?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  In general, yes, although I wouldn't put it quite so.  I think there probably are some subtleties in there.  In other words -- again, I don't propose to have thought through everything on the whole settlement agreement.

I am just saying that my concern is that a little guy like my client is getting roped into or sideswiped by the agreement, and that's not right.  On the bigger question that the Board raises about, you know, if the Board decides not to accept -- well, in theory, the Board could decide not to accept the settlement agreement on the Y issue, on the Y factor issue.

If the Board says, We accept everything in the agreement except for the Y factor part of the agreement, then that means, for me, I suppose I should get a hearing, with all due respect.

For the others in the agreement, I guess they, then, by their own terms -- one could say they have made their bed; now lie in it.  They have said it is non-severable, so full hearing.

I actually don't think it has to go that far, as long as it doesn't prejudice my client or other parties.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.
Further Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, I have five brief submissions.

MR. FARRELL:  Excuse me.  Do I get to say something?

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  You are coming up.

MR. FARRELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it is fairer that you hear these additional submissions.

MR. FARRELL:  Thank you.  So we don't do a double, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  The first is Mr. DeRose refers to complete settlements and says, There is your analogy.

That is not actually a very good analogy, and here is why.  In a complete settlement, you have a yes/no decision.  Do you take it or do you not take it?  In a partial settlement, you don't have a yes/no decision.  You have competing positions in front of you in which you have a range of options between the settlement, the position of the opposing party or anywhere in between just like any other case.  This is not conceptually the same as a complete settlement.  So the analogy to that is not a good one.  That's the first point.


The second point is, Mr. Warren has - and I think others - have said we cannot rely on the evidence put before the Board in the case to date.  We have to have new evidence.  Or we have to have something special to say.  With respect, Mr. Chairman, Members of the Panel, that is just simply wrong.  The reason we know that is wrong is Rule 32.03 says:
"Parties shall ensure that the settlement proposal contains or identifies evidence sufficient to support the settlement proposal, and shall provide such additional evidence as the Board may require."


That evidence is the evidence on the settlement proposal.  When they have listed it, that's now the evidence on the settlement proposal.  So to say, well, they can refer to it in the settlement proposal but we can't is patently unacceptable.  That's the second thing.


The third thing is, we have been referred to a couple of precedents.  With respect to the one in which Mr. Crockford was the sole outlier, I just want to bring your attention to page 24 in which there is the following exchange.  Ms. Nowina says to Mr. Crockford, so you are not going to make any submissions on the settlement agreement?  His answer is no.


So that was the end of the matter.  There was no need to consider anything further.  He had the right to make submissions.  He had the right to cross-examine.  He chose not to.  Simple as that.


With respect to the other decision, I want to say two things.  Mr. DeRose says that the Board decided to reject the partial settlement.  That is not correct.  What is correct, if you turn to page 51 of our materials at K1.1, at line 27, Ms. Nowina says, this is under the heading Decision:

"The partially agreed to issues will be fully heard before the Panel renders any decision.  We

want to make it clear this is not a statement regarding the merits of the partial settlement agreement itself; that we certainly want to hear the merits of that settlement agreement.  It is simply a procedural decision."


What the panel said -- and if you see the exchange between Mr. Vlahos and Mr. Smith later, it reinforces this -- what the panel said is:  We're going to decide on the partial settlement after we hear the evidence.  When we have heard the full case then we will decide are we going to accept that settlement or not.  It was a procedural decision.


So it is not correct for Mr. DeRose to say they rejected the partial settlement; in fact, they specifically told the parties that they were not rejecting it.  They were deferring their decision on it.


Mr. DeRose also says with respect to that precedent, You're not bound by it.  Absolutely.  There is no stare decisis in this Board, but that tells only part of the story.  Because the Board does have to be and is, in fact, on a regular basis, concerned with whether a decision in one case is consistent with the Board's views as expressed in another case.  And if it is not consistent, the Board will normally say, Well, what's different here than that other case?  Why would we be making a different decision here than in another case with similar facts?  If there isn't a difference, then you are either saying the other case was wrong, or you're saying we don't care.  Neither of which is appropriate and neither of which is good for the Board's procedures.


So the Board, in fact -- I understand you are not bound by the decision.  Of course you're not.  But the Board, in fact, as a practice doesn't simply thumb its nose at previous decisions of Board members.  It considers them, and tries to be consistent with them, because it knows that we have a group of parties who are appearing before you all the time.  You don't want to keep changing the rules.  You want to have some consistency before you.


Now, if you find that there is something different here from 2006 gas DSM, then of course, it makes sense for you to say, Well this is different and because of this difference we would like to follow a different procedure.  But if you find that there is no material difference, as I think if you look at the facts you will find that, then you are either saying that Ms. Nowina and the members of that panel were wrong or you're saying you don't care.  Neither of which is, in my view, a good idea.

My fourth point is -- and in is something that Mr. DeRose talked about and also Mr. Warren talked about.  Mr. DeRose said:  No, it's not two kicks at the can.  It is one kick at two cans.  He went on to say, look it, we're not asking you to make a decision on the merits in the first place.  We are asking you to make a decision on the settlement agreement.  And then there is a second phase -- if you don't like the settlement agreement, then there is a second phase in which you make a decision on the merits.

With the greatest of respect to Mr. DeRose, that is simply incorrect.  Every decision you make is on the merits.  Every decision.  If you accept the partial settlement agreement, then you are making a decision on the merits.  In fact if you're not, then that's reversible error.  You can't make a decision to finalize the order in a case, the -- make a judgment on the case without considering the merits.  It is just not within your jurisdiction.


So in fact, both of those decisions are on the merits.  In fact they're on the same merits, because -- and that comes to the second question and that is, the second part of this which is -- Mr. Warren says:  You are not being asked to look at the issues here.  You are being asked to look at the settlement.  Again, that is incorrect.  You don't have jurisdiction to consider whether agreements are fair agreements.  You have jurisdiction to set just and reasonable rates, and every decision you make is about just and reasonable rates and it is only about just and reasonable rates.  There are different ways of getting there and I understand when you have a settlement, particularly with almost all of the parties on side, that that will have some persuasive value to you.  But that is not the same as saying:  We're not deciding on the issues, we are only deciding on the settlement agreement.  That is wrong.  You are deciding on the issues.


In fact, Mr. Klippenstein has taken you to 32.04, which makes clear that it talks about agreeing with the settlement of an issue.  It talks about cross-examining on the issue.  So our view is -- and you know, I'm probably going on longer than I should, but I am going to tell you a little story anyway, sorry.  There is a story that children are told about a parade that is marching down the street and there is a marching band playing a good rousing march and there is a whole column of soldiers and they're all marching to the same step except one.  And that one is marching to a different cadence.  And there is a woman on the side of the road turns to her neighbour and says, Look at my Johnny, he is the only one marching in step.  Of course the story is about bias, and you know being an outlier and that sort of thing.  But when I was an undergraduate at university, we studied that story in philosophy.  I was a philosophy major because -- we studied it about truth.  Because there is actually no underlying truth with respect to whether Johnny was marching in step with everybody else.  If he was marching in step, it was to the music; in this case, the evidence, obviously.


Your job is not to assess whether Johnny is marching in step to everybody else.  It is to assess whether Johnny is marching in step to the music, the evidence.


So the proof of this, the subject matter in philosophy was about truth.  The proof of this is, if the person who is saying Johnny is the only one marching in step -- is the drill instructor, would you change your view?  Well, you're the drill instructor and you decide that.  You don't decide whether we should be on the same camp as everybody else.  You decide whether we're right or they are right.  Or somewhere in between.  We're all wrong.


Which leads to my last point, well it doesn't lead to it, but ... and that is this.  This is, I suppose, in response to Mr. DeRose.  At the end of our main submissions, we had an exchange with the Panel, and Mr. Chairman you raised the question of what happens at the end of the first phase and don't you have some discretion to do what you want?  We said, and I think speaking off the top of our heads, we said that at the end of the first phase -- at the end of hearing the case and making a determination on the partial settlement, you are free to make whatever decisions are appropriate to get to the right answer because you still have the obligation to end up with just and reasonable rates.  If you come to the end of that phase and you say, you know what, we don't have enough to set just and reasonable rates, here is what we need, parties.  Go back and give it to us.  That is entirely within your control, and you should exercise that right if that is the result.

The difference between what Mr. DeRose is saying and what we're saying is that you shouldn't be deciding today that you're going to need more at the end of that phase.  You should be deciding today to defer a decision on the partial settlement, just as Ms. Nowina did in 2006, hear the case, then decide whether you can either approve it or not, and, if not, whether you have enough to make a decision anyway.

And you should decide that then.  You should not be deciding that now.  Those are our submissions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Farrell.
Submissions by Mr. Farrell:


MR. FARRELL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I should begin by just saying that Enbridge has much more confidence in your ability to judge a partial settlement than Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Poch would have you think.  The gun-to-the-head analogy is, from my perspective, offensive.

They talked about two cases.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chairman, I have to, with apologies, interject.  I didn't use that.  I am not criticizing him, but several people lumped me in with that, and it just ain't true.  And neither Mr. Shepherd.  I am not criticizing anybody for anything.  Just for the record.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. FARRELL:  Point taken.  Like Mr. DeRose, I want to address the two cases, three cases or whatever.  It seems to me that if you want to start with the purpose and process of a settlement conference, you go to the Board's guidelines.

I will just read you the introduction on page 1:
"The Ontario Energy Board is committed to the settlement conference process as part of its objective of achieving greater regulatory efficiency and effectiveness.  A successful settlement conference process will result in Board decisions that are in the public interest and are accepted by the parties while, at the same time, achieving savings and time and money to all participants."

On the same page under "Overview", it says:
"The purpose of a settlement conference is to settle all of the issues referred to in the settlement conference in a proceeding, or at least to settle as many issues as possible.  The Board may exclude certain issues from a settlement conference where it is of the view that those issues should be heard in full."

Your Panel, Mr. Chair, has not excluded any issues from the settlement conference process.

The guidelines also clearly contemplate a partial settlement and, in particular, they -- and I guess more to the point, they include recognition of settlement packages.  My friends opposed to our procedural suggestions here are, in effect, criticizing the Board's rules on packages.  What they want you to do is change the rules.


I was surprised to hear that the non-severability provision was something that was very troubling.  Energy Probe -- excuse me, Pollution Probe and the Green Energy Coalition signed off on this document with that clause in it.  It wasn't hidden.

MR. KAISER:  On that point, Mr. Farrell, do you take any notice in the fact that that is not in the rules; it's in the guidelines?  The non-severability is not in Rule 32.

MR. FARRELL:  No, it's not.  And it is also, to be fair, not specifically referred to in the Rules or the settlement guidelines, but the concept of the Board not accepting a package and the consequences of the non-acceptance are in the guidelines.

For the reasons Mr. Penny explained, the settlement proposal is effectively a "give to get".  There are compromises.  If you look at page 13 of the settlement proposal - and you don't have to.  I will just read you - after explaining why the parties to the partial settlement decided to, in effect, abandon the X factor and replace it with something as a compromise, this is what the agreement says.  "In all of these circumstances", which talks about the foregoing:
"... the parties agreeing to the resolution of this issue preferred to compromise their differences rather than expose themselves to the risks associated with litigating this complex issue."

So that is why the compromise included a bundle of issues.  It's like a puzzle.  You put the jigsaw puzzle together and you pull out one piece; you don't have the puzzle solved.  So I don't think that the package text or the non-severability test is at all unusual, if one is familiar with how settlements are reached.  It's a give-and-take exercise.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Farrell, I just want to clarify a point, and I don't mean to interrupt you, but just to make sure.  The way I had understood it was that GEC and Pollution Probe opposed an issue and took no position on the other issues.

So I am not sure that I would have found it immediately apparent to draw the conclusion that they agreed to the non-severability, because, to me, I interpret it to be they take no position on the other issues.  I may be incorrect.

MR. POCH:  Ms. Chaplin, in fact, I was going to interject.  I just didn't want to interject in the middle of my friend, but if you look on page 6, at the second and third full paragraphs, it is very clear that the agreeing parties do not include the parties who oppose the settlement of any issue.


Then the next paragraph refers to the agreeing parties say that the package is not severable.  So I think it is quite explicit, and I took comfort in that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. FARRELL:  In any event, the point I am trying to make is that -- and this two kicks at the can, three kicks at the can, whatever.  The settlement proposal for the partially settled issues represents the settlement position the agreeing parties took.  In other words, they have said, For the purposes of trying to settle these issues, we are abandoning our litigation position, which is the prefiled evidence, and we are proposing this, and, for example, the abandonment or rejection of an X factor, per se, as promoted by -- and the prefiled evidence of not only Enbridge, but others, in favour of something else.

The issues of what the evidence is that appears here, in every instance, it says the relevance -- the evidence that is relevant to this issue includes the following.

It doesn't say, specifically, that all of that is relevant to the settled -- the settlement of, say, Issue 4.1.  And that's why I have four people who are prepared to testify, if required, to help me, first of all, in presenting the settlement proposal -- the settlement agreement here to ask you -- to answer any questions parties might have about why the partial settlements should be approved by the Board.

So when you would come out of a settlement with a settlement position, by definition, you put your litigation position behind you, and that is the reason, I think, for the non-severability clause saying, If you don't accept all of this, we've got a choice.  We can say to heck with it, we're not going to take our risk, so we're back to our litigation position; or the parties that agreed to the partial settlement can say, You know what, we can accept that and go forward on that basis.

And that's why there is an election.  If the parties decide they can't live without the settlement on a particular issue that you have rejected, then we're into a full-blown hearing.  If they can, then you will have a hearing that is scoped, for lack of a better word, which is the reference in Ms. Newland's letter that talked about another, "issues conference".

It was unclear to me, and it still is unclear to me, the discussion that occurred about whether Dr. Lowry is going to be called.  My point is if Board Staff doesn't call him, if Mr. Shepherd, for example, calls him, then he becomes -- Dr. Lowry becomes Mr. Shepherd's witness, which means the only way he can cross-examine him is to declare him to be hostile.

We don't think the DSM situation pertains to this case for a number of reasons.  And you have heard from Mr. DeRose, and so on, but just let me tell you why I don't think you should follow it, precedence or not.  The facts and circumstances in the two cases are quite different.  In the generic DSM case as I understand it there were three packages of issues: completely settled issues package, partially settled issues pack, and an unsettled issues package.  So it got rather complicated trying to figure out a process that would be fair and efficient.  In this case, we only have one package, the partial settlement.


There is another important difference.  In the DSM case, the parties opposed to the partially settled package had all filed evidence.  Here, the opposing parties have filed no evidence.  The applicant, at this point, has no idea of the case it has to meet.  I am going to come back to Mr. Shepherd's point about the case -- an applicant has to put a case, not meet a case.


The third distinction is that the level of risk created by a decision to require the agreeing parties to elect whether they stick with the partial settlement or revert to their litigation position has financial consequences that are far larger than was the case in the DSM proceeding.  Here, the financial consequences are significantly greater.


The fourth reason we say you should not follow the DSM case is that a decision requiring the agreeing parties to elect would put a chill on the ADR process.  And I just adopt Mr. Penny's remarks in that regard.


The fifth reason is that what Enbridge and the agreeing parties are proposing is similar to what happens in civil litigation in class actions:  Settlements must be approved by a judge, who decides if it is in the best interests of the class, in a fairness hearing.  If the settlement is not accepted the case is fully litigated.  This involves litigating some issues two times:  One in a fairness hearing and once at trial.  So this is not unprecedented.

I am just checking my notes on the notes I took.  We agree with Mr. Warren's position or his submissions, rather, that once the settlement agreement has been presented, with the help of witnesses -- if the other parties wish to cross-examine -- that will be the evidence before the Board on whether or not to accept the partial settlement.  There is no evidence at this point opposed to that.  There is no evidence on the record in opposition.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Farrell, the last statement you were saying no evidence on the record in opposition to the settlement.  Is that one of the point you're using to distinguish from the DSM proceeding, where there was evidence on the record in opposition to the settlement because it was the evidence of the -- that had been proffered by the opposing parties?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, I am.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. FARRELL:  I don't take -- I don't accept fully Mr. Shepherd's argument about every decision you make involves just and reasonable rates, but I don't really quibble with that.  I think there are two things you should keep in mind.  There is the obvious one is the partial settlement in the public interest and the decision of you three Board members.  But the other is something that arose in the decision of the Board panel in the Hydro Ottawa settlement hearing on January 24th of this year.  Mr. Vlahos, who was the presiding member, on page 42, said the following starting at line 20:
"Settlement proposals are a result of a complex relationship of issues.  One should not look for precedential value with respect to specific elements of the settlement agreement in this case.

"It is the overall cost consequence or rate outcome that the Board accepts, not necessarily the results of specific methodologies or proposals that may or may not deviate from Board regulatory instruments that may otherwise apply."


And what that tells me, if you are to take guidance from Mr. Vlahos's comments is, when you are considering the partial settlement, you should be considering the overall cost consequence or rate outcome compared to the litigation case.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  We will take the lunch break at this point and come back in and hour and 15 minutes.


--- Luncheon recess at 1:00 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:22 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Any preliminaries, Mr. Millar?
Procedural matters:


MR. MILLAR:  No.  I can advise we're trying to address the heat situation.  It's a bit warm here, so we have closed the curtains, but we are doing our best.

MR. KAISER:  You can lease it to somebody who is into hot yoga.

MR. FARRELL:  I had one preliminary matter.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, sir.

[Technical difficulty]

MR. FARRELL:  I apologize for my lack of discipline, and I have asked, with your permission, the court reporter to change the word I used to "heck".
DECISION:

The Board today has heard submissions from interested parties with respect to the settlement agreement filed in this proceeding.  That's the agreement of January 29th, which is marked as Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1.

This is a settlement agreement between Enbridge and various parties.  Some 19 parties participated in this settlement conference.  That’s set out at page 3 of that document.  The settlement agreement, of course, relates to the application filed by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. on May 11th for the approval of rates effective January 1st, 2008, and, in particular, a plan for the setting those rates through an incentive rate mechanism.

The specific issue we are dealing with right now is this:  What is the proper procedure the Board should follow in determining whether to accept this settlement agreement?  This Settlement Agreement is a Partial Agreement.

There are a number of parties supporting Enbridge known as the Agreeing Parties. And there are three parties who do not agree, known as the Opposing Parties.  The major one is the School Energy Coalition that opposes the settlement agreement on a number of points.  Pollution Probe and Green Energy Coalition oppose the settlement agreement on some narrow points.

The starting point in this analysis is, of course, the Board's Rules Of Practice and Procedure, and, in particular, section 32 of those Rules.  Rule
32.01 provides that:
"Where some or all of the parties reach an agreement, the parties shall make and file a settlement proposal describing the agreement in order to allow the Board to review and consider the settlement."

That's been done.  That's Exhibit N1 that I just referred to.  The next rule, 32.02, provides that:
"The settlement proposal should identify, for each of those issues, those parties that agree with the settlement on that issue and any parties who disagree."

That has also been done.

Rule 32.03, which had some relevance to the discussion this morning, provides that:
"The parties shall ensure that the settlement proposal contains or identifies evidence sufficient to support the settlement proposal and shall provide such additional evidence as the Board may require."

That has also been done.  In Exhibit N1 the Applicant refers to a substantial amount of evidence which is already in the record.

The next rule provides, 32.04:
"A party who does not agree with the settlement of an issue will be entitled to offer evidence in opposition to the settlement proposal and to cross-examine on the issue at the hearing."

That is what we have been discussing this morning.  I don't know that anyone takes issue with that.

Rule 32.05 provides that:
"Where evidence is introduced to the hearing that may affect the settlement proposal any party may, with leave of the Board, withdraw from the proposal upon giving notice and reasons to the other parties."

The last rule, 32.06, provides:

"Where the Board accepts a settlement proposal as the basis for making a decision in a proceeding, the Board may base its findings on the settlement proposal and on any additional evidence that the Board may have required."

There are also some general principles, and those have been referred to by Mr. Farrell and others.  One is the introductory paragraph of the Board's Settlement Guidelines, which states follows:
"The Ontario Energy Board is committed to the settlement conference process as part of its objective of achieving greater regulatory efficiency and effectiveness.  A successful settlement conference will result in the Board decisions that are made in the public interest and that are accepted by the parties while, at the same time, achieving savings and time and money to all participants."

There is another principle that was raised by Mr. Farrell.  He referred to a recent decision, the Hydro Ottawa case of January 24th at page 42, where the Presiding Member stated as follows:

"It is the overall cost consequences or rate outcome that the Board accepts, not necessarily the results of specific methodologies or proposals that may or may not deviate from the Board's regulatory instruments that may otherwise apply."

With those general principles, we turn to what are really the main issues.  It is worth noting, and no one contests this, that our obligation is to make findings that are in the public interest with a view to achieving just and reasonable rates.  Secondly - and this has been the subject of much discussion – we must develop a process which is a fair process that doesn't prejudice any of the parties.

It is significant in considering these matters, that the parties agreeing to this Plan are experienced intervenors.  They have a long-standing interest in these proceedings and represent a wide array of interests with various customer perspectives.

I should add that in addition to the substantial number of parties, a lengthy period (at least 20 days), of serious negotiation has taken place to bring us to where we find ourselves today.

We come next to the issues that the Board faced in the submissions this morning.  There are three.  No one contests that those opposing have the right to cross-examine the applicant on its evidence in support of this proposal.  No one contests that they have a right to call evidence.  The Rules make that perfectly clear.

One new issue that has arisen, however:  What evidence may the parties rely on?  Mr. Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada takes the view that the opposing parties must rely on evidence that is produced in these proceedings, in response to the evidence Mr. Farrell intends to call today.

Mr. Shepherd, for his client, the School Energy Coalition, refers us to the Rules, particularly Rule 32.03,  that states:
"Parties shall ensure that the settlement proposal contains or identifies evidence sufficient to support the settlement proposal and shall provide such additional evidence as the Board may require."

The Applicant's material, the settlement proposal, identifies volumes of evidence in the record.  Mr. Shepherd or any Opposing Party, for that matter, is also entitled to rely on the same record.

Mr. Shepherd and any other Opposing Party is also entitled to call evidence.  We will come to that shortly.

Another point we should determine is this:  What is it that the Panel is deciding in this matter, today?  We believe we are deciding whether to accept or not accept the settlement proposal.  We have no intention, regardless of what the evidence is, of substituting our view of some specific factor for the view that is contained in the settlement proposal.  That is to say we are not going to substitute some different value for the X factor or the Y factor.  The decision before us is to accept the settlement proposal, or not accept it.

The other issue which has drawn submissions from Mr. Penny and others is the non-severability clause.  We don't believe it is necessary to make a ruling on that at this time.  It is clear that the Board has departed in the past from that Rule.  Non Severability is not part of the Rules.

I referred to the Hydro Ottawa decision of February 3rd, 2006 as an example.  There are good reasons for non-severability - we have heard them this morning.  And there are reasons why, in certain circumstances, that rule might work an unfairness.  But the Board can depart from the rule when it determines the rule is not in the public interest.  We will make that determination when we have heard the evidence in this case.  Not at this point.  That, then, takes us to the next question, What do we do next?  We are prepared to hear Mr. Farrell's panel.  The parties, of course, are free to cross-examine.  We are prepared to let cross examination start tomorrow.  Mr. Shepherd and any other Opposing Parties of course may call evidence.  If they intend to do so they should notify the Applicant and Board Counsel by five o'clock today.  We will then determine what to do in terms of scheduling should that occasion arise.  Following the hearing of evidence, we will have argument.  We are inclined, contrary to Mr. Shepherd's submissions, to proceed to oral argument as quickly as we can.  Of course it will depend how we make out tomorrow.  The order as set out in Ms. Newland's letter of January 30th is acceptable and straightforward:  The Applicant, followed by the Agreeing Parties, followed by the Opposing Parties, followed by Reply by the Applicant.  But we will leave the scheduling of argument to tomorrow.  We don’t  need to deal with that right now.  But we do not believe that it is necessary to have a long extended process.  This record has been known to all of the parties for some time.

So with that, Mr. Farrell ...

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, may I...

[Board Panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Chaplin reminds me I was a bit unclear.  We will hear your argument -- your evidence today, if that's acceptable, if you are ready to go.  If the parties are not ready to cross-examine until tomorrow, we will adjourn until tomorrow morning.

MR. PENNY:  Mr. Chairman, may I just add one additional issue which was not addressed in the issues this morning because it relates to Union.  It has nothing to do with the Enbridge settlement per se.  But we have one outstanding matter which it was agreed by all parties would proceed a week or two ago when the hearing was originally scheduled.  We have one witness, it is Mr. Birmingham, the vice president who has been hanging around on tenterhooks for a while.  We were hoping that we could design the process in a way that enabled us to have him give his evidence on the customer addition issue, which is the outstanding issue we have with Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Poch, at an early stage in the process, if not this afternoon -- preferably this afternoon, but if not, perhaps first thing tomorrow morning, something of that nature.  I don't know if that fits with the concept that --

MR. KAISER:  I leave it up to you, Mr. Penny and Mr. Farrell.  It doesn't matter to us which panel goes first.  What is your choice, Mr. Farrell?

MR. FARRELL:  I have a question, if I might, that will govern my response.  The plan was for counsel to take the Board at a high level through the settlement proposal and to provide the four people to assist if the Board has questions of clarification.  And the evidence that they would be providing would speak to the settlement agreement, per se.  So we could either do the walk through the settlement proposal, or, if that is not necessary, then Mr. Penny and I can have a brief chat and I don't think it...

MR. KAISER:  What is your choice, Mr. Penny?  Do you want to go now?

MR. PENNY:  If Mr. Farrell wants to take you through the settlement agreement just for the purposes of presenting it, that is fine with us.

MR. KAISER:  How long will your people be in-chief?

MR. PENNY:  Well, probably five to ten minutes, and Mr. Poch has indicated he has roughly an hour of cross-examination and Mr. Klippenstein, I am not sure.

MR. KAISER:  What's your choice, Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  I am in the Board's hands, Mr. Chair.  I think it would be helpful for the Board perhaps if you heard Union's panel then Enbridge's panel, which I gather is a separate panel from their main one, seriatim just so you have it in one place on the record.  That would obviously be convenient for those of us who are just here for that, but I am in your hands, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  As I mentioned to my friend, I have a little difficulty proceeding today with Mr. Birmingham, so I have a problem on that route.


[Board Panel confers]

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Penny, could Mr. Birmingham being on hand 9:30 tomorrow?


MR. PENNY:  Absolutely.

MR. KAISER:  Let's do that, and we will proceed with the high-level overview at this point.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, just before you get to Mr. Farrell, in light of your ruling -- which as I understand it is essentially a two-stage process.  In light of your ruling, I will have to get instructions of course from my client as to how we want to proceed.  I am not sure that I can get detailed instructions by five o'clock today, particularly with respect to witnesses, because I have to take them through all of the issues.  I wonder if I could beg the court's indulgence to have until 9:30 tomorrow morning for that.

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.  Is that all right with you?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  You are up.  I presume we should swear the witnesses?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, please.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 1

Kevin Culbert; Sworn


Richard Campbell; Sworn


Patrick Hoey; Sworn


Anton Kacicnik; Sworn
Examination by Mr. Farrell:

MR. FARRELL:  Gentlemen, for the record, could each of you state your name and title with Enbridge.

MR. KACICNIK:  Anton Kacicnik.  I am the manager of rate research and design.

MR. HOEY:  Patrick Hoey, I am the director of regulatory affairs.

MR. CAMPBELL:  Richard Campbell, manager of regulatory research.

MR. CULBERT:  And Kevin Culbert, manager of regulatory accounting.

MR. FARRELL:  So this panel is speaking to the settlement agreement, and I think their evidence, plus my presentation -- which isn't evidence but just to take you through -- we think fits within the "such additional evidence" phrase as used in Rule 32.03.

So, as you mentioned, Mr. Chair, Enbridge, 19 intervenors and Board Staff participated in the settlement conference and the individual intervenors are listed on page 3, the parties to the settlement agreement.  All of the issues on the Board's list were settled in one of three categories.  Those categories are set out in the next page, complete, incomplete and partial settlements.  In addition to the issues on the Board's issues list, there were issues arising out of Enbridge's request for approval of its 2008 total revenue and corresponding 2008 rates for each customer class.  And the settlement proposal deals with those issues as well.


I want to take you to the top of page 6, and just merely to point out that there frames who the agreeing parties are or more appropriately who the opposing parties are and the individual issues are summarized there, in the case of GEC and Pollution Probe, and then also SEC or the School Energy Coalition.  We're presenting, obviously, the package or the partial settlement package, and I alluded to this in my remarks earlier, but we think of this one analogy we can use.

It's like a bill of sale for a new car.  You can agree on make, model, engine, drive train, accessories, colour and leather seats and so on.  And I think it is fair to say that what the dispute is about is basically the agreeing parties made their choice and the dispute really is how much should people have to pay for it.

In terms of Mr. Shepherd's client, I am sort of reminded of one of the Rogers ads:  And I want it all for less.


In any event, I would start with the reference to the Board's Natural Gas Forum or NGF report.  There, there were -- these are referred to on page -- on the overview.  There are three objectives:  Establish incentives for sustainable efficiency improvements that benefit customers and shareholders; ensure appropriate quality of service for customers; and create an environment that is conducive to investment to the benefit of customers and shareholders.


The agreeing parties accept that the Enbridge five-year incentive regulation or IR plan has met these objectives.  The parties agree that the benefits of new efficiencies will be shared with customers during the term of the plan and that the plan is expected to put downward pressure on Enbridge's rates by encouraging new levels of efficiency and providing the regulatory stability needed for anticipated investment in Ontario.

In combination with the Board's service quality requirements that are set out in the Gas Distribution Access Rule, the plan, in our view, ensures an appropriate quality of service for all customers.

Now, I don't plan to take you through in great detail.  I am just going to highlight some things, I think, try to approach this like Mr. Penny did in the presentation of the Union Gas settlement.


The IR plan is a revenue per customer cap.  If the Board were to approve this agreement, there would be five natural gas utilities in Canada with incentive regulation plans.  Three of those plans would be a revenue per customer cap.  And the utilities are Terasen in British Columbia, Gazifère in Quebec, and, if you approve it, Enbridge in Ontario.  One would be a hybrid plan, which is Gaz Métro, also in Quebec, and one would be a price cap, which is Union Gas.

The agreement does not provide for a formal mid-term review.  However, the parties, the agreeing parties, have made that an option, that a consultation may be convened in year 4 of the plan in order to consider whether an extension of the plan for one or two years would be warranted.

If they agree, an application would be made for the Board's approval.  If the Board approved it, one benefit would be that the rebasing under the Enbridge plan would not occur in the same year as a rebasing under the Union Gas plan.  As I said, that is not a requirement.  It is an option.

The Enbridge IR plan has the same macroeconomic index used by the Board in approved IR plans for Union Gas and the electricity distributors.  The number for 2008 is 2.04 percent.

A controversial topic so far in this proceeding has been the X factor and the methodology used for its determination.  Evidence on this issue was filed by five experts, each of whom did not share, for the most part, the views or conclusions of the others.

All of the parties, except School Energy Coalition, decided to avoid the spectacle of doing experts.  They did so by agreeing to adjust annual distribution revenues by a percentage of the annual rate of inflation.  That is set out starting at page 12 in Issue 3.1.

This adjustment, which is referred to as an inflation coefficient, replaces an X factor and/or a stretch factor.  I think it is fair to say that the Board, in its NGF report, addressed this type of a possibility, on page 23 of that report, talking about an annual adjustment mechanism.  That's the marginal heading.  And the second sentence after that heading states as follows:
"The adjustment mechanism captures expected annual changes and costs, such as inflation, and the utility's productivity improvements.  The choice of the productivity factor has been controversial in past rate cases."

Then if one goes to the next page, page 24, under the marginal heading, "The Board's Conclusion", this appears:
"In a multi-year IR plan, the annual adjustment embodies the combined assessment of cost changes and productivity improvements.  Various methods can be used to evaluate these trends (inflation factors, industry productivity factors and so on)..."

And it goes on to say:
"... and the resulting adjustment mechanism could be a complex formula or it could be a single factor taking the form of an increase, a decrease or a rate freeze."

The inflation coefficient is the single factor that is a feature of the partial settlement.


The value of the annual adjustment factor will vary over the term of the IR plan.  The agreement notes that IR plans in other jurisdictions have also adopted these X factors.

So if you turn to page 13, you will see the inflation coefficient in the table at the top of the page, and you will see that it starts at 0.60 and declines over time, so in the final year it would be 0.45.

Then in the table beneath that, you can see that the implied X factor, as a percentage of GD, PI, PI, FDD, are listed in the table there.

The annual adjustment factor equates to an X factor that falls within the midpoint of the range, which the expert evidence in this case as a whole supports.  Note that the X factor is fixed for the duration of the IR plan under the methods of some of the experts.

The annual adjustment factor is not fixed.  Rather, because it is expressed as a percentage of inflation, it has an advantage for ratepayers in the event that inflation in future years exceeds 2.04 percent.

The agreement specifies a schedule for rate increases to the fixed component of rates for rate class 1 and rate class 6.  It also specifies that these changes would be implemented on a revenue neutral basis.

That sort of is the high-level presentation.  I think it is sufficient to advise you, with respect to the other features of the agreement, that with two exceptions the balance of the terms are similar, if not identical, to the terms of the Union Gas settlement agreement, which you have approved.  When I say "you", I mean this Board Panel.

In fact, it was the intent of the parties to the agreement to use, where possible, identical language.  This is the case for the terms of the agreement with respect to offramps, reporting requirements, rebasing, risk management, and, with two exceptions, X factors and Z factors.

For the Y factor - and I think you need to turn to page 18 - the difference between Enbridge on the one hand and Union on the other hand with respect to Y factors is that there is a Y factor for CIS/customer care costs resulting from the true-up process approved by the Board for the customer care settlement agreement, and that was, for the record, EB-2006-0034.

And the other difference is the pass-through of the incremental revenue requirement impacts associated with annual capital expenditures related to the attachments -- attachment, rather, as customers of natural gas fired power generation projects.  The condition on that is -- not really a condition, but the criteria are:  1, the leave to construct to effectuate the attachment has to have been approved by the Board; and 2, the power plant has to be in service.  So it applies once the power plant is placed into service.

With respect to Z factors, the difference with Union - here if you turn to page 22, as you can see, there are Z factors, there's Z factor criteria, ROE methodology,  NGEIR, and changes in tax rules and rates.  So there is -- those are the four components, if I can, of the Z factor issue 6.1.


The criteria are identical with Union.  The ROE methodology is identical to Union but I will come back to that in a minute, and NGEIR is equivalent to Union or is the same as Union.  The changes in tax rules are different from Union and, as you can see, the settlement agreement proposes a sharing, if you will, of the effect of the changes in federal and provincial legislation or regulations under that legislation.


And that is sharing provision is in paragraph i, at the bottom of page 23, and it is a accompanied by a true-up variance account which is the subject of paragraph ii on page 24.


Now, I said that the language for the ROE methodology is the same as Union, and that's why parties in the Enbridge settlement conference agreed to use it, but as there's an ambiguity that Mr. Shepherd has pointed out to us, and while we don't want to just change the text, we want to clarify what it means.  If you look at the third sentence on the bottom of page 22, it's not clear -- issue 6.1 on page 22.  So what we are saying is this, the third sentence states that:

"Enbridge may apply to the Board to institute a proceeding to change the ROE methodology should a change in methodology be approved by the Board."


I think the intent, though, is that Enbridge would be free to apply to the Board to have a change made by the Board in another proceeding made applicable to Enbridge.

Now, the agreement sets out the annual rate-setting process for the term of Enbridge's IR plan, and this is dealt with in the series of issues under 12, rate-setting process that begins on page 31.  In essence, by each -- October 1st in each year of the plan, Enbridge will file and provide the Board and interested parties with the information required to establish rates for the subsequent year in the plan.  That will take place each year through 2012.  The information will include the calculations of revenue, according to the revenue per cap customer formula, and which is in appendix C on page 48 of the settlement agreement.  Customer numbers, volume forecasts by rate class as well as the allocation of the revenues on a rate class by rate class basis and ultimately the rates and percentage rate increases by rate class.   The information will be provided in the same manner and format as Enbridge has provided for years during the cost of service area.  The process will include a review of the information by interested parties, and, if required, a consultative or interrogatory phase.  The process will provide sufficient time for a proper review and allow for a rate order to be issued by the Board by December 15th, and an order by that date will allow Enbridge to be able to implement rates by January 1st of the subsequent year.

The detailed elements of the process are outlined in issue 12.1.1 and it goes on for some time.  If the Board has any questions in relation to that, that's one purpose for these gentlemen to be here.


Finally, I want to deal with rate and bill impacts.  The rate design process will be similar but not identical to the process used in the cost of service era.  Each year the test year revenues will be determined using the revenue per customer cap formula.  Enbridge will continue using the same allocation and rate design principles as in the cost of service era, to determine rates and recover test year revenues.


Appendix E, which appears at pages 55 to 59, set out the estimated allocation of distribution revenues to rate classes, with and without Y factors for the years 2008 to 2012.  The allocation of revenues serves as a guide to rate design, which is consistent with the approach used to design rates in the cost of service era.


Appendix F is a schedule that sets out -- this is page 60 -- sets out the estimated percentage rate increases on a rate class basis for the years 2008 through 2012.  For 2008, the estimated rate increases for all rate classes are less than 0.6 percent, and most rate classes will experience an increase of less than 0.4 percent in 2008, from the application of the IR adjustment formula.  While setting rate parameters, for example, inflation, volumes average number of active customers and so on, that are known for 2008, the appendix F is an outline of the company's best and conservative estimate of the rate impacts for the remaining years of the IR plan.  The estimated impacts are less than 1.8 percent for some rate classes and considerably less for all in the remaining years except for rate 1.  The comparison -- or for comparative purposes, the rate 1 increase in 2007 in the cost of service era was 3.02 percent.


Appendix G sets out estimated bill impacts for the years 2008 through 2012.  For example, and I would like you to turn to that page, Mr. Chairman.  It is page 61, second-last page of the settlement agreement.

As I say, this sets out sample bill impacts and the typical residential customer with a T-service bill -- by T-service bill, I mean a bill that excludes the cost of the commodity -- is estimated to increase by roughly $41 over five years or just over $8 per year on a T-service bill, so approximately $560.00. The sample in appendix G also includes two bill estimates for Rate 6 customers.  The first one reflects a typical commercial customer with a bill estimated to increase by approximately $173 over a five-year period or about $35 per year.  That you can see under Rate 6 and the note below it is that it's the typical commercial customer.  Then it also shows the bill impact in a second example, and this is for -- this is -- this size of commercial client is representative of approximately, with a bill of approximately $2900.  I misspoke myself there.  Excuse me.

I am now moving to the second example, which is T-service impact on a customer with 43,285 cubic metres as annual.  You can see from this line that the -- this is representative, this level of commercial customer is representative of a small school.  The bill impact is estimated to be slightly lower at the end of the five-year term as compared to what such a customer paid in 2007.  As you can see, there is both dollar and percentage decrease.  Mr. Betts has pointed out to me that I neglected to focus or bring your attention to the earnings sharing mechanism.

This is Issue 10 that starts at the bottom of page 27.  If you look at the top of page 28, it provides that if Enbridge's actual utility ROE calculated on a weather normalized basis is more than 100 basis points over the amount calculated annually under the Board's ROE formula, then the result shall be an equal sharing of the excess.

Those are my comments in making a presentation.  Gentlemen, do you wish to add anything?

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, any questions?  Mr. Poch.

Cross-examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Just one, Mr. Chairman.  Panel, your counsel indicated that except for the areas he enumerated, the basis of your agreement was to try to mirror the language or the arrangements embedded in the Union ADR; correct?

MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  All right.  I think it is fairly obvious why, in certain areas, you are in a different situation.  There is evidence on prevalence of residential customers and declining average use, what have you, while you favoured, for example, the revenue cap, obviously rather than price cap.

But one of the items where there is a difference is, in the Union agreement, the issue that we are concerned with -- GEC is concerned with, which is the treatment of incentives for the company to do customer additions, was not felt to be necessary to be part of a package, where here it was.

I am wondering if it is appropriate to ask:  Is that difference because of some fundamental difference between the two companies analogous to the reason why you have gone revenue cap rather than price cap, or is that simply because, faced with Mr. Shepherd's dissent on so many issues, for consistency you have treated it in that fashion?

MR. HOEY:  I am just trying to remember the reason why it was done the way it was done.  I think the wording -- we thought the wording was the same between the two companies, but in looking at -- there is, I guess, one additional sentence in the Union agreement in the overview that I didn't see.


So that would be the difference, I think, between the two.

MR. POCH:  Can I take that answer to -- the implication of that answer is - and I appreciate we don't want to get into, you know, transcripts of what went on in your negotiating sessions - but that you can't point to some fundamental difference in the situation of the two utilities that would require this item to be in the package in one case and out of the package in the other.

It is reasonable for me to assume and for the Board to assume that it was treated differently in the agreement, really as a fall-out of the fact that you felt it was necessary, given the extent of Mr. Shepherd's dissent, to go that route?

MR. HOEY:  Well, I can't say that 100 percent, Mr. Poch, because Enbridge is only one of the signing parties to it.  So I don't know what the other parties would have done or not done with regard to this.  So --

MR. POCH:  Let me just ask from your perspective, then.  Is there some fundamental driver that causes you to feel strongly that that is necessary, to have that difference from the Union language or -- that you can point to?

MR. HOEY:  Well, I think with our particular model, the revenue cap per customer model, we just don't see us -- once we got that type of model, we would see ourselves being able to attach customers in the same way we did with cost of service.  So we don't see any need to add anything to stimulate that along.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  I appreciate that that is the substance issue, which we will get to later.  You don't happen to think it is necessary, but I take it may -- again, may I take the inference there is no fundamental difference that creates some great difficulty if this item was treated as severable, this one item?

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Poch, if I may interject.  Mr. Hoey has said he can only speak for Enbridge.  I am assuming you are asking whether Enbridge would have any difficulty?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.

MR. HOEY:  Can I only say that from Enbridge's perspective, we don't believe we need it.  It's as simple as that.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Other than that, you have nothing further?

MR. HOEY:  No.

MR. POCH:  That is just simply the question of whether it is a good idea or not.  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Klippenstein, do you have anything?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Just for clarification, in the Board's earlier comments this afternoon, I understood that cross-examination of this panel would be tomorrow, or is this cross-examination?

MR. KAISER:  No.  I was just giving you an early start, if you want it.  They will be here tomorrow.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I have no question at this point.

MR. KAISER:  If you want to wait until tomorrow, that's fine.  Any other parties wish to put questions to this panel at this time?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I have some very brief questions, if this is a good time.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.

Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I just wanted to discuss very quickly your -- the settlement proposal with regard to the changes in tax rules issue.  I think you start the description of that at page 23 of the settlement agreement.

Just to paraphrase - I don't think it is terribly complicated - the proposal is that where there are changes to tax laws or regulations, you will split the difference 50-50 between the ratepayer and the shareholder; is that the easiest way to --

MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You are, of course, aware that this is -- in the Union case, this is one of the few unsettled issues.  I assume you are aware of that?

MR. HOEY:  Yes, I am aware of that.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is going to hearing I guess late March, early April, something like that?

MR. HOEY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course we don't know this yet, but I take it you would agree it is certainly possible that the outcome in the Union case may be different than a 50-50 sharing between ratepayer and shareholder?

MR. HOEY:  That's correct.  I am assuming there is that possibility.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  We don't know yet, but that is certainly a possibility.  Therefore, I guess I also take it that, at least from the company's point of view, there is not a problem if there is a difference in the way the taxes issue is treated between Enbridge and Union?

MR. HOEY:  No, there isn't.  I mean, I think the way we look at it is that the agreeing parties came to the conclusion to split it, and that is part of the whole settlement package in this particular case.  If there is a different conclusion in the Union case, well, that is for them to determine how that affected them.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, do you have something?
Procedural matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I don't have any questions of the panel.  I do want to raise a procedural matter, very briefly, and that is that my friend, Mr. Farrell, has not referred to a clause in the preamble that deals with the return of models in the proposed agreement between the parties, that models be returned.

As the Board is aware, we have disputed whether that agreement is in place.  It's my understanding that Mr. Farrell proposed -- proposes to deal with that separately, although he can assist you with that, I'm sure.

We wouldn't want our silence on this to be taken as agreeing that that paragraph in the settlement agreement means that we have agreed to return models that we physically can't return.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Farrell.

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Shepherd is correct.  That is an issue in dispute between Enbridge and SEC.  We, being Enbridge, intend to bring a motion to address this issue next week.  We didn't think we needed to bring it this week.

If the Board needs to hear that motion before it decides on the settlement agreement, then we can advance the filing of the motion.  We are prepared to file at any time, but we didn't want to further complicate what is already a complicated proceeding.  So we are in your hands in that regard.

MR. KAISER:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

[Board Panel confers]

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein, I take it you will be cross-examining tomorrow the Enbridge panel?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  That's correct.  I do have one concern about two outstanding interrogatory answers.  I will be speaking with my friend, but I hope that is not a problem tomorrow.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. POCH:  (inaudible)

MR. MILLAR:  Your mike, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  I had understood -- and I hope I haven't misunderstood -- that my friends are going to either -- it may be the same individuals, but they're going to -- there is a separate panel on the -- being proffered by them on this, on the for lack of a better name, Y factor issues.  And I wasn't -- my limited cross-examination now wasn't intended to be a substitute for cross-examining on the substance of the matter.

MR. FARRELL:  Understood.

MR. POCH:  I am anticipating -- perhaps I could ask at the same time, Mr. Chairman, just for some clarification from yourself.  It seems that the process from here forward will be that Union will go first on that matter at 9:30 with Mr. Birmingham.  Is it my friend's intention then that their panel on that topic will follow?  That would, I think, as I suggested earlier, may be the most helpful for the record.

MR. KAISER:  Is that acceptable, Mr. Farrell?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes, sir.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We will proceed in that fashion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that I understand.  Mr. Shepherd, I understand that you are not going to be asking questions of this panel on the bulk of the issues within the settlement agreement.  Is that right?  Your cross-examination with respect to these matters?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think my intention is to seek instructions of my clients as to what steps we want to take at this point, including, for example, what witnesses we think might be necessary and whether we would want to cross these witnesses or other ones.  I think I need to take instructions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I am glad I asked, because I am not sure that you get to name the witnesses that you get to cross-examine with respect to this.  This panel is the panel that is dealing with the, all of the issues other than the Y issues that Mr. Poch has just alluded to.  I think the proposal is that you cross-examine these witnesses on that.  Whatever instructions you need to get from your client with respect to evidence that you may wish to advance is another matter.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was my understanding that the Board's ruling was that the partial settlement would be presented today, and that Enbridge would then lead a panel in support of that tomorrow, which I will cross-examine.


MR. KAISER:  This same panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be the same panel, right.  But this is the settlement presentation as I understand it. This is not my opportunity to cross-examine.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's what I wanted to be clear about.

MR. KAISER:  You can start in the morning if you want.

MS. NEWLAND:  Just to be clear, it is this panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.

MR. FARRELL:  I think, Mr. Chair, that -- I think the process, in light of what the two people who want to cross-examine on another panel dealing with Y factor would probably be most efficient if they went ahead and had that done, then Mr. Shepherd if he chooses to cross-examine.

MR. KAISER:  You will follow Mr. Birmingham on that point.

MR. POCH:  Just so I am clear then, we will deal with Mr. Birmingham on Y factor.  Then we will deal with Enbridge's panel, whoever they may be, on Y factor.  And then presumably Mr. Klippenstein and I can depart and I would just invite Board Staff to give us some indication of when you will be expecting argument so we can -- I can get back to back to Toronto for you.  Depending -- perhaps Mr. Shepherd can inform us in the morning as to how long he will be.  It may be that I -- could even be reached tomorrow, in which case, of course, I will stay on hand.

MR. PENNY:  The customer additions issue, Mr. Chairman, is a very narrow issue in respect of which there is virtually no evidence.  So we will be in a position to argue that tomorrow, if that was in the Board's -- if that was the Board's desire.

MR. KAISER:  Is that convenient, that we can at least deal with the argument on the customer additions tomorrow?

MR. PENNY:  I would hope so.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I would have to respectfully ask if we could not argue that tomorrow.  My friend can, but my argument, because I expect to be an hour, hour and a half in cross and will need to formulate that.  So if my friend wants to argue tomorrow, that is fine.  But I would beg leave not to be asked to do that tomorrow.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, another alternative for the board to consider -- I don't know if this works for Mr. Klippenstein, but I could offer -- it might be convenient for the Board, either we could do oral argument another day next week or alternatively an expedited written argument.  I could certainly submit written argument in the middle of next week sort of thing.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  My preference is written, as well.  Again, that doesn't affect the nature or timing of my friend Mr. Penny's, but I would prefer written, frankly.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well we will consider that.  Sorry?


MS. NEWLAND:  If I could just add one thing, Mr. Chairman.  The problem that we find ourselves in is we are not exactly sure what the case that we would have to argue on the issues that are raised by Pollution Probe and GEC.  They have not filed evidence.  There is some reference in the settlement agreement to a proposal that Mr. Poch's client wants to make.  But at this point, if you asked me to get up and give you some argument on that issue I am not sure what I would argue because I am not sure what I am responding to.  Perhaps we could get some guidance from especially Mr. Poch, with respect to the proposal.  Actually, my comments apply more to Mr. Poch than they do to Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KAISER:  Would you not have reply argument in any event?


MS. NEWLAND:  I would.  That's one way we could deal with it, certainly, sir.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, of course, in the ordinary case you would have no desire -- I am happy to assist and assist the panel.  The gist of our concern is that the, under the IR regime, there is -- without rebasing as much as five years away -- there is less of an incentive for the companies to engage in customer additions, capital expenditures, and my cross is to examine on that point.  Then my proposal will be some form of targeted incentive to put the companies on that decision in a similar situation as to what they were under cost of service.  They don't have any less incentive.  The numbers on that of course will flow from the cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  Well, in any event, you are proposing written argument for your argument?

MR. POCH:  I am content either way, Mr. Chairman, I am just trying to be flexible whatever suits you.

MR. KAISER:  You will have an opportunity, Mr. Farrell, to reply in writing if you wish.

MR. FARRELL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  To allow you lots of time.  Is that satisfactory?

MR. FARRELL:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  9:30 tomorrow, Mr. Penny.

MR. PENNY:  Thank you.

MR. FARRELL:  I should just add before you rise, Mr. Chair that the Enbridge panel 2 will be Mr. Hoey and Mr. Tom Ladanyi.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Thank you.

 --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:20 p.m.
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